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Hexcel’s world is changing.

Faster, more dramatically than

ever. To meet the challenges

and opportunities of the new

global business environment,

Hexcel is changing, too. This

report is about how Hexcel

is positioning

itself to capitalize on change.
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A corporate profile
Hexcel Corporation: the world’s leading advanced 
structural materials company. Following a series of acquisitions
over the past three years, Hexcel today is a global enterprise 
with solid profitability and over $1 billion in annual sales.

Hexcel is the largest US producer of carbon fiber; 
the world’s largest weaver of structural fabrics; the leading 
global producer of fiberglass electronic materials; the number 
one producer of composite materials such as honeycomb,
prepregs, film adhesives and sandwich panels; and a leading
manufacturer of composite parts and structures. 

The company markets its products to customers in the 
commercial aerospace, space and defense, electronics, recreation
and general industrial markets. Manufacturing facilities located
in 12 countries around the world are operated by an experienced 
multinational management team.

Hexcel materials are used on virtually every commercial and 
military aircraft produced in the western world, and in thousands
of other products, from satellites and launch vehicles, to high
speed trains and ferries, cars and trucks, cellular telephones, 
laptop computers, skis and golf clubs, and construction materials.

Founded over 50 years ago, Hexcel has adopted a corporate
mission to combine people, materials and science to deliver 
superior performance to our customers.



Financial highlights

Over the past three years, Hexcel has made remarkable progress. We have led the consoli-

dation of the advanced structural materials industry. We have tripled our revenues and

established a solid record of profitability. And we have achieved leadership positions in 

our global markets.

In short, we have built a strong enterprise which will be a solid foundation for 

us going forward.

Now, in 1999, we are continuing our corporate evolution, building on that 

foundation to capitalize on change.

Our overriding objective is clear, and constant: To add value for our shareholders 

and our customers. 

To achieve this objective, we are focused squarely on three areas during 1999:

° Reduce costs and improve productivity throughout our business, so we improve 

profitability in our major markets.

° Refocus our research and technology efforts, so we can continue to grow through 

internal development of new products and applications.

° Improve the balance in our sources of revenue by reaching beyond our strong base in

commercial aerospace to new markets for advanced structural materials.

This annual report describes the opportunities and challenges facing Hexcel in a

changing business environment. And it outlines the strategies and initiatives we are 

pursuing to position the company to capitalize on that change.

19 9 8  F i n a n c i a l  R e s u l t s  S e t  R e c o r d s

Hexcel’s financial results for 1998, our 50th anniversary year, surpassed the records we estab-

lished in 1997. In fact, it was our third consecutive year of consistent growth. For the first time,

the company’s sales exceeded $1 billion. Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income both

reached records. And adjusted earnings per share increased 22 percent from the record 1997 level.

While our 1998 financial performance was strong, the Asian financial crisis and its 

implications began to affect our business during the year:

° First, demand for new commercial aircraft in Asia was reduced, and some existing

orders were deferred or cancelled.

° Second, Asian producers of fiberglass electronic materials, faced with lagging sales at

home, cut prices and sold aggressively into other world markets.

To our shareholders:

Hexcel’s world is changing. The swift, dramatic changes in the global business envi-

ronment during 1998 affected market trends, financial results and business outlooks

for many corporations, including Hexcel. It was decidedly not business as usual.

John Lee, Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer (left); Tad Kinne, President and Chief
Operating Officer

(In millions, except per share data; year ended Dec. 31) 1998 1997 1996

Net sales $1,089.0 $936.9 $695.3
Gross margin % 24.9% 23.8% 20.3%
Adjusted EBITDA1 $ 177.2 $137.6 $ 71.9
Net income (loss) $ 50.4 $ 73.6 $ (19.2)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58)
Adjusted earnings per share (diluted)1, 2 $ 1.43 $ 1.17 $ 0.48
1 Earnings before business acquisition and consolidation expenses, other income, interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.
2 Excludes business acquisition and consolidation expenses and assumes a US effective tax provision at 36 percent.



Looking ahead, there is evidence that some Asian markets are beginning to strengthen.

While it will take time for the region to regain its full economic vitality, we see significant

opportunities for growth in this area over the longer term. 

H exc e l ’s  P r i m a r y  M a r k e t s :  C h a l l e n g e s  a n d  O p p o r t u n i t i e s

While all of Hexcel’s primary markets present some short-term challenges, they continue

to offer attractive growth opportunities. These markets are described in more detail begin-

ning on page 10 of this report: 

Commercial Aerospace: Hexcel’s largest market offers significant long-term growth

potential, despite current soft market conditions in Asia. Based on the existing global fleet of

over 10,000 aircraft and announced build rates for Airbus and Boeing, anticipated market

growth and replacement of older aircraft should mean at least 700 new aircraft built annually

for the next several years. This compares with a record 788 aircraft in 1998 and 380 in 1995,

the low point of the previous cycle. Moreover, Hexcel is well positioned with both Boeing and

Airbus, and stands to benefit no matter where the demand for new aircraft originates.

Space and Defense: A new generation of fighters, transports, helicopters and other

military aircraft, in development during the 1990s, will enter full scale production after

2000. Hexcel materials are already included in over 50 military aircraft programs in the 

US and Europe, and the company is poised to capitalize on this increased demand.

Hexcel materials are also used in a wide range of rockets, and we have a growing 

position in satellites. Postponement of some commercial satellite launches slowed demand

for Hexcel’s satellite materials during 1998. However, this market is now expected to

rebound, and it promises attractive growth as the commercialization of space continues.

Electronics: Inventory adjustments temporarily reduced demand of printed circuit

boards during the summer of 1998. In addition, excess manufacturing capacity and 

currency devaluations in Asia have led to intense pricing pressures for fiberglass electronic

materials. Further rationalization of global capacity may be required, pending an upturn in

Asian markets. However, the fundamentally strong demand for personal electronic devices, 

combined with Hexcel’s leading market position, offer good long-term potential.

Recreation and General Industrial: Developing new applications for our materials 

is an important driver of future growth for Hexcel. While many of these opportunities 

may take time to mature, they can further diversify our sources of revenue. During 1998

we established a strategic alliance with Sika Finanz AG, a worldwide leader in construction

chemicals and structural adhesives, to develop and market composite systems for the 

construction industry. We achieved small but significant breakthroughs in the automotive

and long-haul trucking industries, and we expanded the use of composite materials in 

high-speed trains and ferries and mass transit trains. We also enjoyed growing sales of 

composite materials for wind energy systems in Europe, and continued to supply materials

to selected segments of the recreation market.

1998 Hexcel Pro Forma Sales 
by Business Segment
Total $1,235 million

53% Composite Materials

30% Reinforcement Products

17% Engineered Products



T h e  Fa c e  o f  H e x c e l  i s  C h a n g i n g

In the face of these changes in the global business environment, we are increasing our

emphasis on operational effectiveness, product innovation and balance in our sources of 

revenue. Initiatives currently underway to help us do that are described in more detail

beginning on page five of this report. However, here is a brief summary:

Operational Effectiveness: We are focusing on operational effectiveness through 

cost reduction and productivity improvement. The centerpiece of these efforts is to imple-

ment the principles of Lean Enterprise, a program aimed at identifying and eliminating

costs which do not add value for our customers or shareholders. In addition, we have an

ongoing effort to identify opportunities for consolidation and rationalization in our global

manufacturing facilities.

Another aspect of operational effectiveness is the organization of our business units.

During 1998, our US, European and Pacific Rim composite materials businesses were 

reorganized into a single global business unit. This move mirrors the steps taken to inte-

grate our existing structural fabrics operations with the Clark-Schwebel operations acquired

in 1998 (see below). These changes reflect the reality of a global customer base, global

competitors and the need for more integrated, cost effective strategies and operations. 

To oversee the integrated strategy, planning and execution of our global operations, we

established a new Global Operations Leadership team, headed by Tad Kinne, our new 

chief operating officer.

Product Innovation: New products can help us add value for our customers and 

shareholders, maintain our technological leadership and, in some cases, diversify beyond

our aerospace base. For example:

During 1998, we developed and patented a new retrofit package to modify overhead

stowage bins to accommodate four carry-on bags, rather than the usual two. Hexcel has

contracts with United Airlines and Continental Airlines to retrofit these “ATIX” stowage

bins and thereby provide more carry-on space for passengers. With Hexcel’s system, the

bins can be retrofitted overnight, after daily flights are completed.

The makers of the popular Nissan Quest minivan are using Hexcel’s new energy

absorbing honeycomb technology to enhance passenger safety. Hexcel components are

installed in the headliner section of the vans, where a person’s head could make contact

in a collision. New auto-safety standards, to be fully phased in by 2003, make this an

exciting new market for Hexcel.

Balance in Our Sources of Revenue: Beyond our new strategic alliance with 

Sika and other initiatives to expand the franchise for our materials, in September 1998 

we completed the acquisition of Clark-Schwebel, the world leader in the production of

fiberglass materials used to make printed circuit boards for electronics and telecommunica-

tions equipment. Since that time, we have been integrating the Clark-Schwebel operations

Hexcel’s financial results for 1998 surpassed the records we established in 1997. 

For the first time, the company’s sales exceeded $1 billion. It was our third 

consecutive year of consistent growth.

1998 Pro Forma Sales by Market
Total $1,235 million

57% Commercial Aerospace

15% Electronics

13% General Industrial

10% Space and Defense

5% Sports and Recreation



with existing Hexcel fabrics operations, and these operations are now doing business 

globally under the name Hexcel Schwebel.

This acquisition creates a stronger platform for Hexcel in the fast-growing electronics

and telecommunications industries. Hexcel Schwebel also commands leadership positions 

in composite reinforcements, ballistics and construction materials. And the acquisition

diversifies our business base without affecting our leadership positions in commercial 

aerospace, space and defense.

R e d u c i n g  o u r  D e b t  L e v e l

Our financial focus for 1999 is on reducing costs and generating free cash flow to reduce

debt. Last year we established a goal to generate $100 million of free cash flow between

September 1998 and year-end 1999. We have been encouraged by the $15 million of 

free cash flow we generated in the fourth quarter of 1998, and we are firmly focused on 

generating the balance of our target in 1999. We anticipate that the larger portion of this

amount will come in the second half of 1999, aided reductions in capital expenditures,

inventories and other working capital. Once these actions are accomplished, we will 

establish new interim goals to reflect current market conditions.

Wo r d s  o f  We l c o m e  a n d  T h a n k s

During 1998 we welcomed H. E. Tad Kinne, who joined Hexcel in July as president, chief

operating officer and member of the board of directors. At the same time, Stephen C. Forsyth,

an 18-year company veteran, was elected executive vice president and chief financial officer.

Hexcel’s continued progress would not be possible without support from our sharehold-

ers, customers, employees, management team and board of directors. To each of them, we

extend sincere thanks. In particular, we would like to extend our appreciation to Hermann

Vodicka and Joseph T. Sullivan, who retired from the board in early 1999. 

To maintain and strengthen our position as the global leader in advanced structural 

materials, Hexcel is changing—shifting its focus to place more emphasis on operational effec-

tiveness, product innovation and balance in our sources of revenue. By doing that, we can add

value for our customers. We believe this is the key to growing existing markets, diversifying

into new markets, achieving profitable growth and enhancing shareholder value.

John J. Lee
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
March 31, 1999

We have built a strong enterprise, one which will be a solid foundation for us going

forward. Now, in a continuation of our corporate evolution, we are transforming 

ourselves once again, to strengthen that foundation and capitalize on change.



B e t t e r  B a l a n c e

Broadening our
business base
Diversification beyond commer-
cial aerospace is important to
Hexcel’s future. And the compa-
ny is taking the lead in efforts to
identify new applications for new
materials and more cost effective
processes in the field of advanced
structural materials. In this way,
Hexcel can diversify the sources
of its revenue and broaden its
business base.

These initiatives are both
internal and external. The 
creation of Hexcel Ventures in
late 1997 brought together
internal research and technolo-
gy, engineering, manufacturing
and marketing resources in
order to pursue selected poten-
tial diversification opportunities. 

Hexcel’s diversification ini-
tiatives also involve acquisitions,
alliances and other collaborative
relationships with industry 
leaders in growth markets. For
example, in the spring of 1998,
Hexcel established a global

strategic alliance with Sika
Finanz AG, a worldwide leader
in construction chemicals and
structural adhesives, to develop
and market composite systems
to the construction industry.

The largest diversification
step taken by Hexcel during
1998 was the company’s 
acquisition of the business 
of Clark-Schwebel, Inc., and 
the subsequent integration of 
Clark-Schwebel with Hexcel’s
existing structural fabrics 
operations.

This acquisition, announced
in July and completed in
September, is strategically
important for Hexcel for three
primary reasons:
° It further diversifies Hexcel

beyond commercial aerospace.
As a direct result of the 
acquisition, on a pro forma
basis, Hexcel’s fiberglass 
electronic materials sales
increase to 15 percent of 
sales, from five percent, and
commercial aerospace sales 
are reduced to 57 percent
from 66 percent.

In responding to global change, Hexcel is focusing primarily on impoving the balance

in its sources of revenue and on operational effectiveness through cost reduction 

and productivity improvement throughout the organization. The ultimate objective

is to understand our customers’ expectations thoroughly, then deliver on those

expectations, on time, every time. Here are some of the major change initiatives 

now underway throughout the company:

Change at Hexcel:
key initiatives respond to global change

1998 Clark-Schwebel Sales

1998 Hexcel Pro Forma Sales 

65% Electronics

21% General Industrial

14% Commercial 
Aerospace

Excludes Clark-Schwebel’s JVs

1998 Hexcel Sales 

66% Commercial
Aerospace

12% Space and
Defense

12% General Industrial

5% Electronics

5% Sports and Recreation

57% Commercial
Aerospace

15% Electronics

13% General Industrial

10% Space and Defense

5% Sports and Recreation

Cr ea t ing  a  Bet t e r  Ba lance  fo r  Hexce l



Five key change initiatives focus on balance 
and customer satisfaction

° It globalizes an existing
European growth platform in
structural fabrics by adding 
a strong US presence and
(through joint ventures) broad
global positioning and capacity.

° It establishes Hexcel as the
global leader in supplying
fiberglass materials to cus-
tomers in the electronics and
telecommunications industries.

Prior to its acquisition 
by Hexcel, Clark-Schwebel 
was already the US leader in
the production of electronic
fiberglass materials used in the 
manufacture of printed circuit
boards. These boards are an
integral part of computers, 
cellular telephones, automobiles
and literally thousands of other
electronic devices. In addition,
Clark-Schwebel had been 
producing a wide range of
structural fabrics for use in 
reinforced composite materials,
ballistic protection, recreational
products, building materials
and other applications that

demand the strength and 
high-performance capabilities 
of fiberglass and other specialty
fibers. These products expand
Hexcel’s presence in each of
these markets.

Hexcel Schwebel operates
state-of-the-art manufacturing
facilities both in the US
(Georgia, North Carolina, 
South Carolina and Texas) 

and in France
(Décines and 
Les Avenières). In
addition, Hexcel
Schwebel’s global
leadership is strength-

ened by signifi-
cant ownership
positions in three
joint ventures
owned by Clark-
Schwebel prior to
the acquisition.
These three joint

ventures, located in Asia, Europe
and the US, have annual sales
over $300 million.

Th e  Le a n  En t e r p r i s e

Operational 
excellence creates
customer value
The keystone of Hexcel’s 
initiatives to improve opera-
tional effectiveness is the Lean
Enterprise initiative. This 
program, which was introduced
in 1998 in most US locations, 
is based on the methodology
used in the Toyota production
system. It encompasses the
relentless pursuit of operational
excellence through the elimina-
tion of every type of waste and
activities which do not add 
value for customers.

By implementing the 
principles of the Lean Enterprise,
Hexcel is reducing costs through-
out our operations and working
with our customers to reduce
their costs, as well. 

The Lean Enterprise is the
guiding principle for the way
everything should be done at
Hexcel. It means using less of
everything, while still achieving
world class levels of product
quality and safety. The compa-
ny’s Lean Enterprise initiative 
is being integrated and linked
with our overall quality man-
agement efforts, which in turn
are directly connected to 
customer satisfaction levels.

The Lean Enterprise is 
relevant to Hexcel’s entire 
vertically integrated value chain,
including manufacturing facili-
ties, support functions, product
development and interactions
with suppliers and customers.
The current focus is on stream-
lining that value chain through-
out the company and delivering
products to customers faster,
more efficiently and more 

economically. Emphasis is
placed on achieving continuous
improvement through measured
performance and benchmarking.

The results of implementing
the Lean Enterprise concept
globally will include: reduced
product costs, higher through-
put, lower inventories, lower
overhead, improved process
design, more consistent quality
and, for employees, more
responsibility and accountability.

P r o d u c t  Q u a l i t y

The goal is to
deliver quality, on
time, every time
Hexcel is focusing on making
sure our products are of consis-
tently high quality and are 
delivered to our customers on
time, every time. 

Hexcel’s quality manage-
ment initiatives are aimed, first,
at completing the certification 
of every company manufactur-
ing facility in terms of a basic
benchmark—ISO 9002 regis-
tration —by the end of 1999.
Reaching the standards of 



The keystone of Hexcel’s initiatives to improve operational effectiveness is the 

Lean Enterprise, which encompasses the relentless pursuit of operational excellence

through the elimination of waste and activities which do not add value for customers.

this internationally recognized
quality management system 
is only a beginning, however.
Hexcel also is at work to
improve production processes,
shorten lead times, enhance
product quality and reduce
product costs.

Individual business 
units and individual facilities 
will be responsible for their 
performance, under the 
overall umbrella of a new
corporate quality system.

G l o b a l
R e o r g a n i z a t i o n

Changing for 
a new business
environment
Globalization is one essential
characteristic of the changing
business environment. And
Hexcel is changing its organiza-
tional structure to improve
operational effectiveness and
serve our customers better.

The new organizational
structure for Hexcel’s global
operations is designed to meet

the reality of a global customer
base, global competitors and the
need for more integrated, cost
effective strategy and operations.

The most significant organi-
zational changes in 1998 were:
° Establishing a Global

Operations Leadership Team
to assume joint accountability
for operational planning, 
execution and results for the
company’s global operations.
This team of experienced
senior managers will be
responsible for driving all 
of Hexcel’s change initiatives
through integrated planning
and execution. Decisions will
be made from a corporate-
wide perspective, linking 
benefits across the entire 
company, not simply in one
business unit or another.

° Forming a single global 
business unit for composite
materials. This new business
unit encompasses what had
been separate organizational
units in the US, Europe and
the Pacific Rim.

° Integrating Hexcel Fabrics
and the newly acquired 
Clark-Schwebel operations
into a single global business
unit.

C u l t u r a l  C h a n g e

Global integration 
to achieve a truly
unified enterprise
Today’s Hexcel is the result 
of bringing together the pre-
1996 Hexcel with four acquired
businesses: Ciba Composites
(acquired in 1996), the compos-
ite products division of Hercules
(also 1996), Fiberite’s space
satellite unit (1997) and 
Clark-Schwebel (1998).

In integrating these new
businesses, the company’s goal 
is to mold a single company,
with a clear vision, an integrated
strategy and a unified operating
philosophy. This effort encom-
passes every aspect of the 
company’s operations, including

manufacturing, research and
technology, engineering, cus-
tomer service and all others. 
At the same time, it is essential
to preserve the global account-
ability and responsibility of the
individual business units.

Hexcel’s new Global
Operations Leadership Team 
is responsible for leading these
efforts. But the team will also
enlist the daily efforts of all
employees of Hexcel, working 
to make their own functions
better, and to make the whole
greater than the sum of its parts.

Why is this important? 
Our business must be driven 
by the requirements of our cus-
tomers. And the key to success
in these efforts is a unified 
global culture, leveraging our
technologies and capabilities to
deliver the products and services
our customers demand, more 
effectively than our competitors.



Hexcel at a glance

PAN Precursor

Prepregs

Structures Interiors

Honeycomb Sandwich Panels

Carbon Fibers Reinforcement Fabrics Fiberglass 
Electronic Materials

R e i n f o r c e m e n t  P r o d u c t s

C o m p o s i t e  M a t e r i a l s

E n g i n e e r e d  P r o d u c t s



Hexcel provides a unique customer advantage as the only fully vertically integrated

competitor in the advanced structural materials industry. All of the company’s 

global business units comprise a continuous manufacturing chain.

Electronics; space and defense; 
commercial aerospace; 
surface transportation; 
ballistics; civil engineering 
and construction; recreation

Raw materials for industrial 
fabrics and prepregs; filament
winding for space and defense; 
printed circuit boards; laptop
computers, cellular telephones;
automotive; ferries and yachts;
rocket motor casings; bullet 
resistant vests; windsurfing
boards; window blinds

United States: 
Anderson, SC; Decatur, AL; 
Salt Lake City, UT; Seguin, TX;
Statesville, NC; Washington, GA

Europe: 
Décines, France; 
Les Avenières, France 

Joint Ventures: 
Asahi-Schwebel, Osaka, Japan; 
CS-Interglas, Erbach, Germany;
CS Tech-Fab, Anderson, SC  

Commercial aerospace; 
space and defense; recreation; 
surface transportation; 
civil engineering and 
construction

Materials for aircraft surfaces
(flaps, wing tips, elevators 
and fairings); aircraft structures 
and interiors; helicopter 
components; satellite launch 
vehicles; skis, snowboards, 
golf club shafts, fishing rods, 
and tennis rackets; automobile
and truck parts; floor panels; 
high speed ferries and trains; 
wind energy blades

United States: 
Burlington, WA; 
Casa Grande, AZ; Gilbert, AZ;
Lancaster, OH; Livermore, CA;
Pottsville, PA; Salt Lake City, UT

Europe: 
Dagneux, France; 
Duxford, England; 
Linz, Austria; Parla, Spain;
Swindon, England; 
Welkenraedt, Belgium

Joint Venture: 
DIC-Hexcel Ltd., Komatsu, Japan

Commercial aerospace; 
space and defense; 
surface transportation; 
civil engineering and 
construction

Aircraft structures and 
finished aircraft components
(including wing-to-body and 
flap track fairings, radomes, 
engine cowls, wing panels); 
OEM and retrofit aircraft 
interiors, including overhead
stowage compartments, 
lavatories, sidewalls and ceilings;
automobile and truck parts; 
rail car components

United States:
Bellingham, WA; 
Kent, WA 

Joint Ventures:
Tianjin, China (announced); 
Alor Setar, Malaysia (announced)

Sales (in millions) Markets Applications Facilities

Sales (in millions) Markets Applications Facilities
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Total 1998 Reinforcement
Products Sales: $355 million

Total 1998 Composite
Materials Sales: $665 million



Despite difficult market conditions in the Pacific Rim, build rates rose to a 
record level in 1998, the second consecutive year of dramatic increases. …We 
believe commercial aerospace offers significant longer term growth potential.

H E X C E L M A R K E T S

commercial aerospace 

AIRBUS A340: Hexcel 
supplies a range of compos-
ite materials for the Airbus
A340, including prepregs,
glass-carbon hybrid sand-
wich structures with aramid 
honeycomb core and Redux
adhesive films.

THE BOEING 777 takes full advantage 
of the light weight and high rigidity of
Hexcel’s honeycomb for interior and
exterior components.

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Hexcel Sales: 
$1,235 million

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Commercial Aerospace
Sales: $709 million, or 57%

Hexcel supplies a range of composite materials for the Airbus A330.

57%



C O M M E R C I A L A E R O S PA C E

is Hexcel’s largest market,
accounting for 57 percent of the
company’s total 1998 pro forma
sales. The commercial aerospace
industry has historically led the
development of new applica-
tions for advanced structural
materials because it values their
unique performance qualities
and can maximize the economic
benefits from their use. In fact,
the use of advanced structural
materials expands with each
new generation of aircraft.

E q u a l l y  We l l
P o s i t i o n e d

Hexcel is a leading supplier of
reinforcement products, compos-
ite materials and parts to Boeing
and Airbus, the industry’s 
two largest manufacturers and
Hexcel’s two largest customers.

Hexcel is well positioned
with both Airbus and Boeing.
Hexcel also supplies virtually
every other maker of commer-
cial aircraft in the western
world, including builders of
regional and business aircraft. 

During 1998 Hexcel
Interiors developed and patent-
ed a new retrofit kit for the
“ATIX” stowage bin to modify
overhead stowage bins to allow
stowage of four carry-on bags,
rather than the usual two. This
is an exciting new product for
both us and the airplane travel-
er. Hexcel has contracts with
United Airlines and Continental
Airlines to retrofit “ATIX”
stowage bins on all Boeing 737
narrow-bodied aircraft in their
fleets and thereby provide more
carry-on space for passengers.
With Hexcel’s kits, the bins 
can be retrofitted overnight,
compared with 5-10 days to
install standard stowage bins.

C h a n g e  U n d e r w a y

Change is underway at both 
of the world’s largest aircraft
manufacturers. Boeing has been
affected by cancellations and
delays from Pacific Rim nations,
among other factors, and has
heightened its focus on value
engineering and streamlined
processes. Airbus continues to

expand production, and plans to
convert from a loosely connect-
ed consortium to a more tightly
structured multinational corpo-
ration. Both Airbus and Boeing
are focused on managing pro-
duction rates and maintaining
profitability in the face of a
competitive battle for market
share in commercial aerospace.

These changes all have
implications for Hexcel, and 
we have launched a major 
effort to focus more directly on
the changing needs of our cus-
tomers, and specifically Airbus
and Boeing. The trend towards
supply chain management at
both Airbus and Boeing impacts
all their suppliers, including
Hexcel. To remain competitive
and profitable, Hexcel must 
continue to improve efficiencies
and reduce total costs. Thus,
Hexcel is intensifying its Lean
Enterprise initiatives and the
other change initiatives discussed
in this report to pull costs out 
of the manufacturing process,
improve productivity and
enhance customer satisfaction.

I n d u s t r y  O u t l o o k

Despite difficult market condi-
tions in the Pacific Rim, com-
mercial aerospace build rates
rose to a record level in 1998,
the second consecutive year of
dramatic increases. We believe
commercial aerospace offers 
significant longer term growth
potential. The current global
fleet with more than 100 seats 
is over 10,000 aircraft. Based on
announced build rates for Airbus
and Boeing, anticipated market
growth and replacement of older
aircraft should mean at least 700
new aircraft built annually for
the next several years. This com-
pares with a record 788 aircraft
in 1998 and 380 in 1995, the
low point of the previous cycle.

For Hexcel, our global reach
and customer balance will allow
us to benefit no matter where
the demand for new aircraft
originates, and to capitalize on
the inevitable upsurge of aircraft
orders once Asia returns to 
economic health.

GULFSTREAM IV: Using 
carbon fiber epoxy/resin/
honeycomb panels, Hexcel
Structures manufactures
engine cowl doors for the
Rolls-Royce Tay engine, which
is used on the Gulfstream IV
and Fokker F-100 aircraft.

A Boeing 777 awaits pas-
sengers. Over 10 percent 
of the dry weight of a
Boeing 777 consists of 
composite materials.

THE EUROCOPTER EC 135 has 
a fully shrouded fan and tail 
boom built with Hexcel’s self-
adhesive, self-extinguishing
prepreg with a carbon glass
hybrid woven reinforcement.

RADOMES: Hexcel Structures
produces radomes for Boeing
737, 747 and 757 aircraft. The
radome, located at the nose of
the aircraft, protects aircraft
radar equipment while provid-
ing an aerodynamic surface.

ATIX KITS: Hexcel Interiors 
has developed a unique solution 
to modify storage bins to accom-
modate carry-on bags on narrow-
bodied aircraft. Installation can 
be accomplished overnight, and
the aircraft returned to service 
the next day.



Military aircraft production is set to rise. Already approved military aircraft 
programs are expected to move from development into production at the start of 
the next decade, providing a valuable source of sales and earnings.

H E X C E L M A R K E T S

space and defense 

THE F-22 is considered the
world’s most advanced tactical
fighter because of its stealth
technology, maneuverability 
and supersonic flight without
afterburner. Hexcel’s IM7 carbon 
fiber provides the foundation for
the primary composite system.

EUROFIGHTER TYPHOON:
Hexcel supplies 8552
epoxy prepregs for all
composite structures on
the Eurofighter Typhoon,
including the wings,
front fuselage and tail
section.

RAFALE: This aircraft
from Dassault is built
using Hexcel carbon 
and glass prepregs for
the wings and fuselage
panel sections.

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Hexcel Sales: 
$1,235 million

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Space and Defense Sales: 
$127 million, or 10%

10%

Hexcel provides the strength within solid rocket motors used on the Delta family of launch vehicles.



T H E S PA C E A N D D E F E N S E

markets have historically 
been innovators in the use of
advanced structural materials,
and sources of significant
demand for these materials. 
For example, advanced structur-
al materials played a major 
role in the development of the
so-called “stealth” technologies
for military aircraft, and are
enabling technologies for 
the airframes of modern 
military aircraft. 

10  P e r c e n t  o f
To t a l  S a l e s

Today, space and defense 
comprise an important market
for Hexcel, accounting for
about 10 percent of total sales.
This market encompasses not
only military aircraft, but also
launch vehicles for spacecraft
and satellites, as well as 
satellites themselves. 

Hexcel carbon fibers, honey-
comb core, machined core and
prepregs are among the pre-
ferred raw materials for virtually
all major US military aircraft

programs and many European
programs as well. These 
include the C-17 cargo craft, 
the F/A-18, the F-22 tactical
aircraft, the V-22 vertical 
takeoff aircraft, the Comanche
helicopter and, in Europe, the
Eurofighter Typhoon, Dassault
Rafale and Saab Gripen.

M i l i t a r y  A i r c r a f t
P r o d u c t i o n  S e t  
t o  R i s e

Overall, Hexcel’s sales to 
military aircraft programs
increased significantly in 1998.
And as the beginning of the
new decade nears, military 
aircraft production is set to 
rise. Already approved military 
aircraft programs are expected
to move from development into
production at the start of the
next decade, and to provide a
valuable source of sales and
earnings following that. The
demand for these new aircraft 
in both the US and Europe is
driven by the need to retire and
replace older aircraft. Many of
the newer models have half of

their airframes (by weight) built
from composite materials.

The space satellite business,
while somewhat slow in terms 
of revenues during 1998, is 
an attractive business with 
good growth prospects. Many
new satellites will be needed 
for voice, data and imaging 
applications worldwide.
Industry estimates call for 
more than 1,000 new satellites
to be launched over the next 
ten years. Hexcel has become 
an important participant in 
this market with the 1997
acquisition of the satellite
prepreg business of Fiberite, 
Inc. In addition to providing
materials for satellites, Hexcel
also supplies carbon fiber and
composite materials for use on
satellite launch vehicles such 
as the Delta, Titan and Ariane
programs.

Hexcel’s carbon fiber busi-
ness experienced some order
cancellations during the second
half of 1998. These cancellations
were the result of excess fiber
inventories held by customers 

as they stockpiled fiber because
of the tight carbon fiber market
in 1997 and 1998. Inventories
should realign in 1999, provid-
ing the basis for a rebound in
production in 2000.

BOEING C-17: The wing-to-fuselage 
fillet panels produced by Hexcel for the
C-17 are honeycomb-stiffened panels 
of carbon and Kevlar®/epoxy, ranging
from three to 37 square feet in size.

V-22: The tilt rotor design
of the V-22 makes it the
only military aircraft able 
to fly either vertically or 
horizontally. Most of the
aircraft’s structure is
comprised of lightweight
Hexcel composites.

EUROCOPTER TIGER: This 
helicopter has carbon/glass
hybrid prepreg engine fair-
ings, glass prepreg blades
and a fuselage, cockpit and
tail boom built with Hexcel’s
carbon prepreg.

SATELLITES:
The thermally stable
properties of Hexcel’s
satellite materials
make them perfect
for satellites’ bus
structures, solar
arrays and antennas.

Hexcel’s advanced honey-
comb processing assem-
blies have been critical in
the production of F/A-18s.

ARIANE 5: The newest
European satellite launcher
contains Hexcel materials 
in all of its upper sections.
The design of the space-
craft incorporates high
thermal resistance and
acoustic protection to pro-
tect delicate instruments.



Hexcel is the world’s leading producer of fiberglass electronic materials. Beyond
wholly owned operations in the US and France, Hexcel’s global reach is enhanced 
by joint ventures in Europe and the Pacific Rim.

H E X C E L M A R K E T S

electronics 

CHIP SCALE PACKAGING:
Faster, more powerful leading-
edge microprocessors require
special packaging to intercon-
nect with printed circuit
boards. Specially developed
micro-thin fiberglass fabrics
provide a platform for the
new packaging technologies.

PRINTED CIRCUIT BOARDS:
Most electronic printed circuit
boards use woven fiberglass
fabrics as the basic matrix
material, providing excellent
dimensional stability, stiff-
ness, dielectric properties 
and ease of manufacturing.

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Hexcel Sales: 
$1,235 million

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Electronics Sales: 
$179 million, or 15%

15%

Laptop computers are among the many electronic devices using multilayer laminates to increase circuit density.



HE XC E L H A S O P E RAT E D

in the structural fabrics 
industry since 1967, when 
the company acquired Coast
Manufacturing and Supply.
Hexcel’s position in this 
industry was strengthened 
in the 1980s, when it acquired
Stevens-Genin, one of Europe’s
leading weavers and prepreg-
gers of fiberglass fabrics.

Since the 1980s, Hexcel
light weight fiberglass fabrics
have been marketed to the
European electronics and
telecommunications industries
to strengthen the laminates
used in printed circuit boards
(PCBs). And in 1998, Hexcel
built further on its existing
growth platform in electronic
fabrics with the acquisition of
the Clark-Schwebel electronic
fabrics business.

Printed circuit boards 
are used in literally thousands 
of electronics and telecommuni-
cations applications–including
personal and mainframe 
computers, printers, cellular
telephones, automotive 

electronics, advanced cable 
television equipment, personal
communications devices, net-
work servers and many others.

Fiberglass electronic 
materials are ideal for use 
in electronics and telecommuni-
cations applications, for several
reasons, apart from their low
cost: Strength, dimensional 
stability, temperature resistance,
electrical properties, thermal
conductivity and resistance 
to moisture and chemicals.

E x i s t i n g  G r o w t h
P l a t f o r m

With the acquisition of 
Clark-Schwebel, Hexcel was
able to build on its existing
growth platform in electronic
fabrics in Europe. As a result 
of the acquisition, Hexcel 
established a global leadership
position in fiberglass electronic
materials. Prior to the acquisi-
tion, these materials accounted
for about 65 percent of 
Clark-Schwebel’s US sales.

Today, Hexcel is the
world’s leading producer of

fiberglass electronic materials.
Beyond wholly owned opera-
tions in the US and in France, 
the company’s global reach 
is enhanced by joint ventures 
in Europe and the Pacific Rim,
as well as the US. Including
these three joint ventures,
Hexcel enjoys global market
leadership, with an approxi-
mate 50 percent market 
share in the US and significant 
market shares in Europe and
the Pacific Rim. The compa-
ny’s strong global leadership
position stems from its 
comprehensive product 
offering and its broad range 
of product technology.

Market conditions softened
during 1998 in the electronics
and telecommunications indus-
tries due to inventory adjust-
ments throughout the electron-
ics supply base. Demand has
now improved in these markets,
but pricing is under pressure 
as Asian and Eastern European
producers with excess capacity
seek outlets for their products 
in western markets.

Tr e n d  To w a r d
M i n i a t u r i z a t i o n

The trend towards miniaturiza-
tion has fueled demand for 
multilayer PCBs, which require
lightweight, higher quality 
fiberglass fabrics. Demand 
for these multilayer PCBs is
growing faster than the PCB
market overall, and lightweight
fiberglass electronic materials
accounted for over half of
Hexcel’s fabric sales in 1998.

Hexcel Schwebel’s goal is 
to be the most effective global 
supplier of these electronic
materials by capitalizing on
global marketing relationships,
enhancing global purchasing
power, rationalizing worldwide
fabrics operations and providing
superior service and technical
support to our customers.

COMPUTERS: Large
mainframe servers,
personal computers and
portable laptops all use
fiberglass fabrics in their
internal printed circuit
boards. These devices
use multilayer laminates
to increase circuit density.

WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS:
Telecommunications,
cellular telephones, pagers,
global positioning devices and
systems promise huge global
growth as the world begins to
communicate without the tra-
ditional infrastructure wires.

CONSUMER ELECTRONICS:
Fiberglass fabrics help deliver
the low cost and top perfor-
mance consumers demand
from their electronic products.
New technology products
such as HDTV and DVD play-
ers promise high growth and
higher glass fabric content.

AUTOMOTIVE ELECTRONICS:
New automobiles use increas-
ingly higher electronic content 
for engine control systems,
safety, entertainment and new
collision avoidance devices.

MILITARY AND AVIONICS:
Military and avionics electronic
products cannot fail during use.
Electronic printed circuit boards
reinforced with fiberglass fab-
rics have demonstrated reliabili-
ty, even in the most demand-
ing service environments.

Fiberglass fabrics help
deliver the low cost and
top performance 
consumers demand from 
electronic products.



Hexcel’s leading-edge technology and advanced structural materials have played a 
key role in the revolution in sports and recreation equipment. And the company 
has branched out into many segments of the sports and recreation market.

H E X C E L M A R K E T S

sports and recreation

SKIS: While the company
no longer markets its own
brand of skis, it remains at
the forefront of ski technol-
ogy, partnering with many
major ski manufacturers,
including Atomic, Elan,
Head, Salomon and others.

SURFBOARDS: Hexcel’s warp glass
fabric is thinner and lies flatter than
conventional fabrics, so less resin is
required in board construction. The
result is a stronger, lighter, more
durable surfboard.

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Hexcel Sales: 
$1,235 million

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Sports and Recreation
Sales: $56 million, or 5%

5%

Hexcel’s carbon honeycomb, between layers of carbon fiber, makes Trek mountain bikes lighter and stronger.



H E XC E L ’ S PA RT I C I PAT I O N

in the sports and recreation
market began in 1971, when
the company brought a number 
of materials and technologies
together into a single finished
consumer product and intro-
duced the Hexcel brand of 
snow skis. The fast, lightweight,
durable skis quickly became a
status symbol on slopes the
world over.

L e a d i n g - e d g e
Te c h n o l o g y

In the years since then, Hexcel’s
leading-edge technology and
advanced structural materials
have played a key role in the
revolution in sports and recre-
ation equipment. And the 
company has branched out into
many other segments of the
sports and recreation market. 

Hexcel materials offer
unique advantages to consumers
demanding higher performance
from their sports and recreation
equipment. They add strength
without adding weight, and
they are more durable than 

traditional materials under 
the stresses and strains of 
the active outdoor lifestyle.
Moreover, the company’s 
global network of research,
manufacturing, sales and 
service capabilities enable it 
to serve customers the world
over, quickly and efficiently. 

S e l e c t e d  N i c h e s

Today Hexcel participates 
in a number of selected niches
within the sports and recreation
market:

° While the company no longer
markets its own brand of skis,
it remains at the forefront of
ski technology, partnering
with many major ski manufac-
turers, including Atomic, Elan,
Head, Salomon and others.

° Over half of the snowboards 
in the world today contain
Hexcel materials, in different
combinations of prepregs,
laminates, polyurethane for-
mulations and honeycomb.

° In the market for golf clubs,
Hexcel has played a key role 
in the move to carbon and

glass/carbon shafts, which 
are rapidly replacing steel
shafts because they are lighter,
stiffer and stronger. 

° Hexcel’s graphite and fiber-
glass prepregs provide the
stiffness and weight reduction
needed in tennis racquets
today. The introduction of
these composite materials 
has dramatically expanded 
the range of racquets available
to consumers.

° Premium-priced fly-fishing
rods are being made with
Hexcel prepregs reinforced
with intermediate-modulus
and high-modulus Hexcel 
carbon fiber.

° Hexcel’s fiber-reinforced 
composite materials used 
in the hulls of racing yachts
can reduce their weight 
by as much as 25 percent,
compared with conventional
materials.

Innovative partnerships 
play a key role in expanding 
the use of advanced structural 
materials in the sports and 
recreation market. Hexcel’s

research and technology and
product marketing staff worked
with bicycle manufacturer Trek
to develop a resin system that
met Trek’s stringent require-
ments for a lighter, stiffer,
stronger frame for Trek Y frame
mountain bicycles. The solution
was a Hexcel graphite unidirec-
tional tape and graphite fabric.
Today Trek mountain bicycles
are marketed with a tag identify-
ing Hexcel materials as “The
Strength Within.”

This broad range of sports
and recreation applications 
represents an attractive source 
of profitable business for Hexcel.

TENNIS RACQUETS: Hexcel’s
graphite and fiberglass prepregs
provide the stiffness and weight
reduction desired in tennis rac-
quets today. The introduction 
of these composite materials
has dramatically expanded the
range of racquets available.

GOLF SHAFTS: Carbon and glass/
carbon hybrids are rapidly replacing
steel golf shafts due to their light-
weight, stiffness and strength. Hexcel
provides unidirectional carbon tape 
to the highest quality standards.

FLY-FISHING RODS: Hexcel
prepregs, reinforced with
Hexcel carbon fibers have
helped create a high-end
fly-fishing rod that is stiff
and durable while also
being lightweight.

RECREATIONAL BOATS: The same
advantages enjoyed by composite
materials in fast ferries and high-
speed trains—strength, lightweight
and impact resistance—also make
them ideal for canoes, kayaks,
sculls and other recreational craft.

Over half of the snow-
boards in the world today
contain Hexcel materials.



Hexcel has been taking the lead in efforts to identify new applications for new
materials and cost effective processes in advanced structural materials. Developing such
new applications, in fact, is an important driver of future growth for the company.

H E X C E L M A R K E T S

general industrial

HIGH-SPEED FERRIES:
Hexlite panels are used
in the interiors of many
high-speed ferries and
ships. The superior 
stiffness and low weight
of the panels provides
design flexibility and
rapid installation.

HIGH-SPEED TRAINS:
Hexcel’s new fire-
resistant, low temper-
ature curing M34
prepreg was used to
build the driver’s cab
of the new VT 612
train from Adtranz.

Total 1998 Pro Forma
Hexcel Sales: 
$1,235 million

Total 1998 Pro Forma
General Industrial Sales:
$163 million, or 13%

13%

The Nissan Quest minivan uses Hexcel honeycomb to help reduce critical head injuries in collisions.

TRUCK FLOORS: One-piece 
cab floors for Kenworth T2000
trucks are produced by Hexcel
using a unique injection pultru-
sion process. These lightweight
panels offer superior perfor-
mance and less assembly time
than traditional steel floors.



I T WA S T H E A E R O S PA C E

industry that first recognized
the value and benefits of
advanced structural materials.
In the years during and after
World War II, first military
aerospace and later commercial
aerospace were transformed by
lightweight, high strength
materials manufactured by
Hexcel and others. 

A F u t u r e  R e v e n u e
S o u r c e

Today commercial and military
aerospace continue to be impor-
tant markets for Hexcel, and
that is not likely to change in
the foreseeable future. However,
many other major industries
throughout the world are exper-
imenting with advanced struc-
tural materials. While many of
these new applications may take
time to develop, they represent
a future revenue source with
enormous potential.

Hexcel has been taking 
the lead in efforts to identify
new applications and expand
existing applications for our

materials outside aerospace. We
are also focused on developing
and commercializing new,
lower-cost processes for making
advanced structural materials
and parts from these materials.
These efforts are an important
driver for the company’s future
growth. To that end, Hexcel
Ventures was created in late
1997 to bring together research
and technology, engineering,
manufacturing and marketing
resources to pursue selected
longer term opportunities in
these areas that would comple-
ment the numerous programs
being pursued in the global
business units.

M a r k e t s  w i t h
At t r a c t i v e  Po t e n t i a l

Among the markets that offer
attractive potential for increased
use of advanced structural 
materials:

° Surface transportation, in-
cluding high-speed and mass 
transit trains, high-speed 
ferries and other marine 
vessels, autos and trucks.

During 1998, we delivered 
our 10,000th composite floor
for the Kenworth T2000
brand of long-haul trucks.

° Automotive applications. 
The makers of the popular
Nissan Quest minivan are
using Hexcel’s new energy-
absorbing honeycomb technol-
ogy to enhance passenger 
safety. Hexcel components 
are installed in the headliner 
section of the van, where a 
person’s head could make 
contact in an impact. Nissan’s
choice of Hexcel honeycomb 
as the most efficient solution
will ensure compliance with a
new US safety regulation and
help reduce critical head
injuries in collisions. 

° Civil engineering and 
construction. During 1998,
Hexcel established a global
strategic alliance with Sika
Finanz AG, a worldwide
leader in construction 
chemicals and structural 
adhesives, to develop and
market composite systems 
to the construction industry.

Initial applications focus 
on projects involving the
strengthening and repair 
of existing structures using
composite materials. Hexcel
takes leadership for the devel-
opment and manufacture of
advanced structural materials
for the alliance, while Sika
leads the marketing and 
sales efforts. 

° Uses for structural fabrics that
go beyond fiberglass electronic
materials. These include deco-
rative and architectural fabrics
and soft body armor.

° Wind energy blades, a market
that is quite active in Europe.

WIND ENERGY: Wind power technolo-
gy requires large wind generator
blades capable of withstanding harsh
climactic conditions for long periods
of time. Demand for increasingly 
larger wind turbine blades to produce
greater energy output is creating a
developing market of low weight
structural composite materials.

WINDOW BLINDS: Hexcel’s specialty
fiberglass fabrics provide the ideal
insulation solution for windows and
other interior decorating dilemmas.
Hexcel blind and screen fabrics are
washable, durable and available in
hundreds of colors and patterns.

SEISMIC RETROFIT: Hexcel’s
civil engineering and construc-
tion systems for buildings and
other structures are cost com-
petitive, are easy to install and
offer attractive repair, strength-
ening and earthquake protection
features.

SOFT BODY ARMOR: Aramid
fabrics are found in bullet,
fragment and stab resistant
soft body armor used world-
wide. Hexcel’s Hexguard®

fabric is used in retrofitted
door and ceiling panels of 
VIP vehicles.

Hexlite(TM) honeycomb 
sandwich panels make
high-speed trains lighter
and faster.



Adhesive  A thermoset
resin (e.g., epoxy, phenolic
or BMI) in the form of a
thin film or paste, cured
under heat and pressure to
bond a wide range of 
composite, metallic and
honeycomb surfaces.

Aramid  A high strength,
high stiffness fiber derived
from polyamide. Kevlar®

and Nomex® are examples 
of aramids.

Carbon Fiber  Fiber 
produced by carbonizing
precursor fibers based on
PAN (polyacrylonitrile),
rayon and pitch to eliminate
non-carbon atoms. The 
term is often used inter-
changeably with graphite.
However, carbon fibers and
graphite fibers are made
and heat treated at different 
temperatures and have 
different carbon contents.

Composite Material

Product made by combin-
ing two or more dissimilar
materials such as fibers and
resins to create a product
with exceptional structural
properties not present in 
the original materials.

Copper Clad Laminate

The basic building material
for printed wiring boards.
The laminate uses resin-
coated fiberglass and
external plies of copper 
foil which are cured in 
high-pressure flat presses.

Cowls or Cowling  

The outside protective shell
of a jet engine, traditionally
made out of metal. Cowls or
cowling mainly provide the
engine with protection from
the elements and with
structural support.

Dimensional Stability  

A measure of an electrical 
laminate’s dimensional
movement (in three dimen-
sions) when exposed to
temperature cycles.

Engineered Products

Completed composite com-
ponents that typically are
manufactured from prepregs,
honeycomb, adhesives and
assembled hardware. These
parts are ready for direct
attachment to a structure
(e.g., aircraft) or to sub-
assemblies. Emerging
manufacturing processes
allow the fabrication of 
engineered products directly
from reinforcing fibers/fabrics
and matrix resins.

Fairing  A secondary struc-
ture of an airplane providing
enhanced aerodynamics.
Typically, fairings are found
where the wing meets the
body or at various locations
on the leading or trailing
edge of the wing.

Fiberglass  Filaments made
by drawing molten glass,
commonly used to reinforce
composite materials.

Filament Winding  

A process to manufacture 
composite materials compo-
nents such as rocket casings
and cylinders. Fiber fila-
ments are impregnated in a
resin matrix and then wound
in a predetermined pattern
over a form with the shape
of the desired component.

Honeycomb  A unique,
lightweight, cellular 
structure made from either
metallic sheet materials or
non-metallic materials (e.g.,
resin-impregnated paper or
woven fabric) and formed
into hexagonal nested cells,
similar in appearance to a
cross-section of beehive.

Interiors  Finished internal
aircraft components, such as 
overhead stowage compart-
ments, lavatories, sidewalls,
floor panels and ceilings.

Kevlar® An aramid fiber
from DuPont. Woven
Kevlar® fabrics are used in
both ballistic and composite
materials applications.

Modulus  The physical 
measurement of stiffness in
a material. A high modulus
indicates a stiff material.

Multilayer Laminate  

An electrical laminate that
uses three or more layers 
of circuitry. These laminates
are used in complex, high-
density circuit designs.

Nacelle  The protective
shell of a jet engine housed
within the cowling, usually
made from honeycomb.
Provides noise absorption,
insulation, structural 
support and can aid 
heat dissipation.

Nomex® DuPont’s registered
trade name for its high 
temperature resistant aramid
papers, pressboard, staple
fibers and filament yarns.
Nomex® aramid paper is
used in the manufacture 
of honeycomb.

PAN (Polyacrylonitrile)  

A polymer which when
spun into fiber is used as 
a precursor material in the
manufacture of certain 
carbon fibers.

Precursor  The PAN, rayon
or pitch fibers from which
carbon or graphite fibers 
are derived.

Prepreg (Pre-impregnated)

A composite material made
from combining high per-
formance reinforcement
fibers or fabrics with a ther-
moset or thermoplastic resin
matrix. When cured under
high temperature and pres-
sure, exceptional structural
properties are achieved.

Printed Circuit Board  

An electronic platform 
containing etched copper
circuitry and multiple 
layers of interconnected 
circuitry, and assembled
with microprocessors, 
passive devices and other
electronic components.

Radome  The housing
which protects the aircraft
radar system from the 
elements while allowing
transmission of radar signals.

Reinforcement  A strong
material which when com-
bined with a resin matrix
forms a composite material.
Reinforcements are usually
continuous fibers, which
may be woven. Fiberglass,
aramid and carbon fibers
are typical reinforcements.

Reinforcement Fabrics

Woven fiberglass, carbon 
or aramid fabrics used in
production of prepregs 
and honeycomb.

Repair and Retrofit  

The reinforcement or repair
of existing structures to
strengthen them or increase
their ability to withstand an
earthquake or other forces.
Until recently, repair and
retrofit was done with 
traditional materials like
steel, but now it can also 
be done with composite
materials.

Resin Matrix  In reinforced
fiber composites, the formu-
lated polymeric substrate.

Rigid Laminate  A one-
sided or two-sided copper
clad standard electrical 
laminate used in low cost
applications. Usually 
uses eight plies of 7628 
fiberglass fabric.

Sandwich Panels  A stiff
and lightweight panel con-
sisting of thin sheets such as
aluminum or cured prepreg
laminate bonded to a low
density, rigid core material
(e.g., foam or honeycomb).

Special Process  

The forming, shaping,
machining or bonding
of sheets or blocks of 
honeycomb into profiled
and complex shapes for 
use as semi-finished 
components in the fabrica-
tion of composite parts 
and structures.

Structures  Finished 
components for aircraft 
and industrial applications.
For aircraft, these may be
for primary or secondary
external structures.

Glossary of terms
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B u s i n e s s  O v e r v i e w
Year Ended December 31,

IN MILLIONS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 1998 1997 1996

Net sales $1,089.0 $ 936.9 $ 695.3

Gross margin % 24.9% 23.8% 20.3%

Adjusted EBITDA(a) $ 177.2 $ 137.6 $ 71.9

Adjusted operating income %(b) 11.9% 10.9% 6.5%

Business acquisition and consolidation expenses $ 12.7 $ 25.3 $ 42.4

Net income (loss) $ 50.4 $ 73.6 $ (19.2) 

Adjusted net income(c) $ 59.2 $ 47.6 $ 13.8

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58)

Adjusted diluted earnings per share(c) $ 1.43 $ 1.17 $ 0.48

(a) Earnings before business acquisition and consolidation expenses, other income, interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. 

See also “Financial Condition and Liquidity” for a reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA.
(b) Excludes business acquisition and consolidation expenses and other income.
(c) Excludes business acquisition and consolidation expenses and assumes a U.S. effective tax provision of 36%.

Hexcel closed its 1998 fiscal year with record sales, Adjusted operating income and Adjusted EBITDA. 
In the three years since the bottom of the aerospace cycle in 1995, the company has more than tripled its
sales and has established a solid record of profitability: gross margin increased from 19.2% to 24.9%,
Adjusted EBITDA improved from $29.4 million to $177.2 million, or a 503% increase, and Adjusted net
income increased more than 17 times from $3.3 million to $59.2 million. 

This dramatic turnaround was a result of three major factors. First, the company led the consolidation of
the advanced structural materials industry through its acquisitions of the Ciba and Hercules composite
materials businesses in 1996, and through the acquisition of the industrial fabrics business from Clark-
Schwebel in 1998. The company’s most recent acquisition diversifies Hexcel’s business beyond its base
in commercial aerospace and establishes Hexcel as a leading global materials supplier to the electronics 
industry. Second, commercial aerospace build rates significantly increased, which led to record deliveries 
for Boeing and Airbus during 1998. In 1998, there were 788 combined aircraft deliveries as compared 
to 380 in 1995. Finally, the company substantially completed a business consolidation program that 
eliminated excess capacity and integrated the Ciba and Hercules businesses. 

Although the company achieved record performance in 1998, there were significant global changes in some
of its markets which were triggered by the Asian economic recession. Deferred or canceled aircraft orders 
by Pacific Rim nations led to a reduction in Boeing’s projected build rates. While the company will still 
benefit from the combined estimated sustained production levels that should be well above 700 aircraft
annually, developing other existing markets and new applications for advanced structural materials will 
now be an important driver of future growth for Hexcel. Lower anticipated future commercial aircraft 
deliveries and Boeing’s well publicized profitability and production issues resulted in Hexcel’s customers
now emphasizing the need for material yield improvement and cost and inventory reduction throughout the
commercial aerospace supply chain.  

The events in Asia also impacted the markets for fiberglass electronic materials. Reduced Asian market
demand and weak exchange rates have contributed to certain Asian producers seeking to sell their products
in western markets. This has caused intense competition in the fiberglass fabric markets that the company 
serves. The impact of lower commercial aerospace orders and these competitive factors in the electronic
materials market are currently anticipated to result in the company’s net sales being flat in 1999 compared
to pro forma 1998 revenues. Responding to these market changes, both to remain competitive and sustain
profitability, Hexcel has intensified its efforts to improve efficiencies and reduce total cost through its Lean
Enterprise and value chain initiatives, as well as its business consolidation activities.

Management’s discussion and analysis
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table summarizes selected financial data for continuing operations as of and for the five years ended December 31:

1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
S t a t e m e n t  o f  O p e r a t i o n s  D a t a :

Net sales $1,089,044 $ 936,855 $ 695,251 $ 350,238 $ 313,795
Cost of sales 817,785 714,223  553,942 283,148 265,367
Gross margin 271,259 222,632 141,309 67,090 48,428
Selling, general and administrative expenses 117,885 102,449 79,408 41,706 37,584
Research and technology expenses 23,624 18,383 16,742 7,618 8,201
Business acquisition and consolidation expenses 12,711 25,343 42,370 – –
Operating income 117,039 76,457 2,789 17,766 2,643
Interest expense 38,675 25,705 21,537 8,682 11,846
Other income, net – – (2,994) (791) (4,861)
Bankruptcy reorganization expenses – – – 3,361 20,152
Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income taxes 78,364 50,752 (15,754) 6,514 (24,494)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 28,442 (22,878) 3,436 3,313 3,586
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies 517 – – – –
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $ (19,190) $ 3,201 $ (28,080)
Income (loss) per share from

continuing operations
Basic $ 1.38 $ 2.00 $ (0.58) $ 0.21 $ (3.84)
Diluted $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58) $ 0.20 $ (3.84)

B a l a n c e  S h e e t  D a t a :

Current assets $ 439,026 $ 387,050 $ 316,931 $ 128,055 $ 148,352
Non-current assets 965,135 424,536 384,805 102,547 95,105
Total assets $1,404,161 $ 811,586 $ 701,736 $ 230,602 $ 243,457

Current liabilities $ 219,444 $ 186,356 $ 188,812 $ 66,485 $ 171,307
Long-term liabilities 882,318 375,329 333,595 115,743 78,035
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) 302,399 249,901 179,329 48,374 (5,885)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,404,161 $ 811,586 $ 701,736 $ 230,602 $ 243,457

O t h e r  D a t a :

Cash dividends per share – – – – –
Shares outstanding at year-end 36,329 36,856 36,561 18,091 7,301

A discussion of the impact of business acquisitions on 1998, 1997 and 1996 selected financial data is contained in Notes 1, 2 and 3 to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Selected financial data
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA
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industry. Second, commercial aerospace build rates significantly increased, which led to record deliveries 
for Boeing and Airbus during 1998. In 1998, there were 788 combined aircraft deliveries as compared 
to 380 in 1995. Finally, the company substantially completed a business consolidation program that 
eliminated excess capacity and integrated the Ciba and Hercules businesses. 

Although the company achieved record performance in 1998, there were significant global changes in some
of its markets which were triggered by the Asian economic recession. Deferred or canceled aircraft orders 
by Pacific Rim nations led to a reduction in Boeing’s projected build rates. While the company will still 
benefit from the combined estimated sustained production levels that should be well above 700 aircraft
annually, developing other existing markets and new applications for advanced structural materials will 
now be an important driver of future growth for Hexcel. Lower anticipated future commercial aircraft 
deliveries and Boeing’s well publicized profitability and production issues resulted in Hexcel’s customers
now emphasizing the need for material yield improvement and cost and inventory reduction throughout the
commercial aerospace supply chain.  

The events in Asia also impacted the markets for fiberglass electronic materials. Reduced Asian market
demand and weak exchange rates have contributed to certain Asian producers seeking to sell their products
in western markets. This has caused intense competition in the fiberglass fabric markets that the company 
serves. The impact of lower commercial aerospace orders and these competitive factors in the electronic
materials market are currently anticipated to result in the company’s net sales being flat in 1999 compared
to pro forma 1998 revenues. Responding to these market changes, both to remain competitive and sustain
profitability, Hexcel has intensified its efforts to improve efficiencies and reduce total cost through its Lean
Enterprise and value chain initiatives, as well as its business consolidation activities.

Looking forward, the company has positioned itself for the future through the issuance of $240.0 million 
of Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009, to solidify its long-term capital structure. Business plans 
are focused on adjusting the company’s cost and manufacturing capacity to earn attractive returns and 
on generating free cash flow to repay debt. Hexcel’s short-term goal is to generate $100 million of free 
cash flow, before taking into account the purchase of an equity interest in CS-Interglas, in the fifteen 
month period from October 1, 1998 to December 31, 1999. In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company
generated approximately $15 million in free cash flow before paying $19.0 million for its initial 43.6% 
equity interest in CS-Interglas, leaving approximately $85 million of the goal to be generated in 1999. 

B u s i n e s s  A c q u i s i t i o n s  

Over the last three years, the company has substantially expanded its size, through both internal growth 
as well as through acquisitions. During 1998, 1997 and 1996, the company acquired:

• certain assets and assumed certain operating liabilities of the industrial fabrics business from 
Clark-Schwebel, Inc. and its subsidiaries’ (“Clark-Schwebel”) on September 15, 1998, including 
interests in three joint ventures, one of which was acquired in December 1998 (the “Acquired Clark-
Schwebel Business”);

• the worldwide composites division of Ciba, including most of Ciba’s composite materials, parts and 
structures businesses, on February 29, 1996. The company subsequently acquired Ciba’s Austrian 
composites business on May 30, 1996, and various remaining assets of Ciba’s worldwide composites 
division at various dates through February 28, 1997 (the “Acquired Ciba Business”);

• the composite products division of Hercules Incorporated including Hercules’ carbon fibers and prepreg
businesses, on June 27, 1996 (the “Acquired Hercules Business”); and 

• the satellite business and rights to certain technologies from Fiberite, Inc., on September 30, 1997.

All of the above acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, 
the consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows include the 
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the businesses acquired as of such dates and for
such periods that these businesses were owned by Hexcel.

Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business
On September 15, 1998, the company acquired certain assets and assumed certain operating liabilities from
Clark-Schwebel. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business is engaged in the manufacture and sale of high-
quality fiberglass fabrics, which are used to make printed circuit boards (“PCBs”) for electronic equipment
such as computers, cellular telephones, televisions and automobiles. The Acquired Clark Schwebel Business
also produces high performance specialty products for use in insulation, filtration, wall and façade claddings,
soft body armor and reinforcements for composite materials. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business 
currently operates four manufacturing facilities in the southeastern U.S. and has approximately 1,300 full
time employees. As part of this acquisition, Hexcel also acquired Clark-Schwebel’s equity ownership inter-
ests in the following three joint ventures, which are incorporated using the equity method of accounting:

• a 43.6% share in CS-Interglas AG (“CS-Interglas”), headquartered in Germany, together with fixed-price
options to increase this equity interest to 84.0%. Hexcel’s acquisition of the CS-Interglas equity interest
and related options was completed on December 23, 1998; 

• a 43.3% share in Asahi-Schwebel Co., Ltd. (“Asahi-Schwebel”), headquartered in Japan, which in turn has
its own joint venture with AlliedSignal Inc. in Taiwan; and

• a 50.0% share in Clark-Schwebel Tech-Fab Company (“CS Tech-Fab”), headquartered in the United
States.

CS-Interglas and Asahi-Schwebel are fiberglass fabric producers serving the European and Asian electronics
and telecommunications industries. CS Tech-Fab manufactures non-woven materials for roofing, construc-
tion and other specialty applications. The fixed-price options to increase the equity interest in CS-Interglas
revenues are, in the company’s opinion, significantly higher than their fair market value. Accordingly, 
the company does not currently anticipate exercising the options, at the stated price, before their 
expiration on December 31, 1999. The unconsolidated revenues in 1998 for these joint ventures were in
excess of $300 million. 

The acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business was completed pursuant to an Asset Purchase
Agreement dated July 25, 1998, as amended, by and among Hexcel, Stamford CS Acquisition Corp., and
Clark-Schwebel (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”). Under the Asset Purchase Agreement, Hexcel acquired
the net assets of the acquired business, other than certain excluded assets and liabilities, in exchange 
for approximately $473 million in cash, including the $19.0 million paid on December 23, 1998. Hexcel
also agreed to lease $50.0 million of property, plant and equipment used in the acquired business from an
affiliate of Clark-Schwebel, pursuant to a long-term lease with purchase options. Refer to “Financial
Resources” for a discussion on acquisition financing.

Acquired Ciba Business
Hexcel acquired most of Ciba’s composite materials, parts and structures businesses on February 29, 1996,
Ciba’s Austrian composites business on May 30, 1996, and various remaining assets of Ciba’s worldwide
composites division at various dates through February 28, 1997. The Acquired Ciba Business is engaged 
in the manufacture and marketing of reinforcement fabrics and lightweight, high-performance 
composite materials, parts and structures for commercial aerospace, space and defense, general industrial
and recreation markets. 

The acquisition of the Acquired Ciba Business was consummated pursuant to a Strategic Alliance
Agreement dated as of September 29, 1995, among Ciba and Hexcel, as amended (the “Strategic Alliance
Agreement”). Under the Strategic Alliance Agreement, the company acquired the assets (including the
capital shares of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries) and assumed the liabilities of the Acquired Ciba Business,
other than certain excluded assets and liabilities, in exchange for: (a) 18,022 newly issued shares of Hexcel 
common stock; (b) $25.0 million in cash; (c) senior subordinated notes in an aggregate principal amount of
$37.5 million, with a fair value of $34.5 million; and (d) senior demand notes in an aggregate principal
amount equal to the cash on hand at certain of the non-U.S. subsidiaries included in the Acquired Ciba
Business. The total aggregate purchase price for the net assets acquired was approximately $209 million.
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Looking forward, the company has positioned itself for the future through the issuance of $240.0 million 
of Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009, to solidify its long-term capital structure. Business plans 
are focused on adjusting the company’s cost and manufacturing capacity to earn attractive returns and 
on generating free cash flow to repay debt. Hexcel’s short-term goal is to generate $100 million of free 
cash flow, before taking into account the purchase of an equity interest in CS-Interglas, in the fifteen 
month period from October 1, 1998 to December 31, 1999. In the fourth quarter of 1998, the company
generated approximately $15 million in free cash flow before paying $19.0 million for its initial 43.6% 
equity interest in CS-Interglas, leaving approximately $85 million of the goal to be generated in 1999. 

R e c e n t  D e v e l o p m e n t s

During the first quarter of 1999, demand in most of the markets that Hexcel serves, including commercial
aerospace, has been in line with the company’s expectations. In addition, the company has continued to
make progress in its business consolidation and integration action plans. However, competitive conditions
in the global market for electronic fiberglass materials have remained intense, impacting sales volumes 
and margins to a greater extent than the company previously expected. Electronics market competitive 
conditions resulting from the Asian economic situation are also impacting the performance of Hexcel’s joint
ventures in Europe and Japan, reducing the amount of equity income that the company recognizes for these
joint ventures in its financial statements. As a result, despite higher net sales than in the fourth quarter of
1998, profitability in the first quarter of 1999 is anticipated to be lower than that in the prior quarter.

Also during the first quarter of 1999, Hexcel has continued the consolidation and integration of its global
reinforcement materials operations. On March 16, 1999, Hexcel expanded these actions, announcing its
plan to close its Cleveland, Georgia manufacturing facility. As a result, the company anticipates recording
in its first quarter financial statements approximately $3 million of business acquisition and consolidation
charges, primarily reflecting the costs of closing this facility, of which $1.8 million will be non-cash charges.
A further charge related to this plant closure of about $1 million is anticipated in the second and/or third
quarter of 1999. Hexcel remains focused on improving performance by continuing to reduce costs and
improving productivity through its Lean Enterprise initiatives. The company has substantially completed
the business consolidation actions that it announced in the fourth quarter of 1998 and continues to seek 
further opportunities to eliminate cost.



The 14% growth in pro forma net sales to the commercial aerospace market from 1997 to 1998 was 
largely attributable to increased sales of composite materials and reflects the increase in commercial aircraft 
build rates by the company’s two largest customers, The Boeing Company (“Boeing”) and Airbus Industrie
(“Airbus”). The increase also reflects an improvement in the engineered products segment’s shipments 
of retrofit interiors to airline customers. 

Approximately 35% and 36% of Hexcel’s 1998 and 1997 net sales, respectively, were identifiable as sales
to Boeing and related subcontractors. Of the 35% of sales attributable to Boeing and its subcontractors,
32% and 3% related to commercial aerospace and space and defense market applications, respectively.
Approximately 11% and 10% of Hexcel’s 1998 and 1997 net sales, respectively, were identifiable as sales
to Airbus and related subcontractors. Reported commercial aircraft deliveries by Boeing and Airbus
improved significantly in 1998, from a combined 557 aircraft in 1997 to 788 aircraft in 1998, including
559 and 229 deliveries from Boeing and Airbus, respectively. Depending on the product, orders placed with
Hexcel are received anywhere between one and eighteen months prior to delivery of the aircraft to the cus-
tomer. The company sells material for every model of commercial aircraft sold by Boeing and Airbus, with
sales per aircraft ranging from $0.2 million to over $1.0 million. Based on published projections, combined
deliveries for Boeing and Airbus are expected to peak at 913 in 1999, before declining to approximately
800 in 2000. As the company supplies its products ahead of the delivery of a commercial aircraft, it will
start to see the impact of reduced Boeing production rates by summer 1999. The company’s sales to region-
al and general aviation aircraft manufacturers remain robust.

During 1998, the company’s commercial aerospace customers started emphasizing the need for material
yield improvement and cost and inventory reduction throughout the industry’s supply chain. In response 
to these pressures, the company reduced the price of certain products in 1999. Further, the company is
aware that one customer is planning, in the third quarter of 1999, to substitute one of Hexcel’s premium
products for a lower cost, lower priced alternative product, which will also be provided by Hexcel. 
Although these changes impact the company’s profit margins, the company’s various cost reduction and 
efficiency improvement programs are focused on mitigating the impact in whole or in part. Meanwhile 
the company’s sales of products used to retrofit aircraft interiors continue to grow with a strong initial 
reception for its kit product which extends the size of overhead stowage bins in narrow aisle aircraft. 

Taking all of the above factors into account, the company currently anticipates that its net sales to the 
commercial aircraft market will show a moderate reduction in 1999 compared to 1998 pro forma net sales,
with the greater impact being seen in the second half of the year.

Space and defense pro forma net sales increased 44% from 1997 to 1998, reflecting an increase in sales 
of reinforcement products and composite materials to select military and space programs, as well as the 
company’s acquisition of Fiberite’s satellite business on September 30, 1997. The company currently 
anticipates that its net sales to space and defense applications will grow in 1999 over 1998 pro forma net
sales, but not as rapidly as was seen in 1998. 

In the last quarter of 1998, the company experienced cancellations of certain carbon fiber orders. The 
company believes that, in response to a significant shortage of carbon fiber supply in 1997, a number of the
company’s customers, particularly those in the space and defense market, purchased and/or ordered more
carbon fiber than they needed during 1997 and 1998. Now that carbon fiber supplies are more certain, 
customers are reducing their inventories and are therefore anticipating lower purchasing needs for 1999.
These factors resulted in surplus inventories throughout the supply chain, including Hexcel, at December
31, 1998 and a significant reduction in the anticipated carbon fiber production for 1999 as compared 
to 1998. The increase in worldwide carbon fiber capacity limits both the company’s ability to sell its 
short-term excess capacity to other markets and prices at which such surplus capacity can be sold. 

Despite these short-term impacts, the company still anticipates growth in carbon fiber sales in 2000 and
beyond as new military aircraft and launch vehicle programs, in both the U.S. and Europe, enter full-scale

Acquired Hercules Business
Hexcel acquired the assets of the composite products division of Hercules on June 27, 1996. The Acquired
Hercules Business, which manufactures carbon fibers and prepregs for commercial aerospace, space and
defense, general industrial and recreation markets, was purchased for $139.4 million in cash.

Acquired Fiberite Assets
On September 30, 1997, the company acquired from Fiberite its satellite business consisting of intangible
assets and inventory, and certain non-exclusive worldwide rights to other prepreg technologies, for 
$37.0 million in cash. The acquisition was substantially downsized from the original agreement whereby
the company had, subject to certain terms and conditions, committed to purchase selected assets and 
businesses of Fiberite for approximately $300 million. As a result of the downsized transaction, the 
company wrote-off $5.0 million of acquisition and financing costs to business acquisition and consolidation
expenses in 1997. In addition, the company expensed $8.0 million of acquired in-process research and 
technology purchased from Fiberite which is included in the 1997 business acquisition and consolidation
expenses. Substantially all of the $37.0 million purchase price, less the $8.0 million write-off of the acquired
in-process research and technology, was allocated to intangible assets. 

Further discussion and analysis of the company’s business acquisitions is contained in Notes 1, 2 and 3 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

R e s u l t s  o f  O p e r a t i o n s

1998 Compared to 1997
NET SALES: Net sales for 1998 were $1,089.0 million, compared with net sales for 1997 of $936.9 million.
The results for 1998 include the results of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business from the date of 
acquisition, September 15, 1998, through December 31, 1998. Excluding the results of the Acquired Clark-
Schwebel Business, 1998 sales were approximately $1,030.6 million, a 10% increase over 1997. The sales
growth was primarily due to strong sales of composite products to the commercial aerospace market, 
primarily in Europe, as well as to the space and defense markets. On a constant currency basis, 1998 sales
would not have been materially different than reported.

Pro forma net sales for 1998 and 1997 by product group and market segment, after giving effect to the
acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business as if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of
the year, were as follows: 

Commercial Space & General
IN MILLIONS Aerospace Defense Electronics Industrial Recreation Total

1998 Pro Forma Net Sales
Reinforcement products $ 46.2 $ 26.4 $ 179.1 $ 101.2 $ 17.6 $ 370.5

Composite materials 468.0 89.6 – 57.4 38.6 653.6

Engineered products 194.9 11.2 – 4.5 – 210.6

Total $ 709.1 $ 127.2 $ 179.1 $ 163.1 $ 56.2 $1,234.7

57% 10% 15% 13% 5% 100%

1997 Pro Forma Net Sales
Reinforcement products $ 49.5 $ 13.9 $ 203.8 $ 130.1 $ 13.0 $ 410.3

Composite materials 403.9 64.2 – 63.9 53.4 585.4

Engineered products 169.8 10.2 – 1.4 – 181.4

Total $ 623.2 $ 88.3 $ 203.8 $ 195.4 $ 66.4 $1,177.1

53% 7% 17% 17% 6% 100%
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commercial aerospace growth has flattened. The company is, however, pursuing efforts to reduce its cost
structure and increase its productivity through its Lean Enterprise program, which was extended to all
U.S. locations in the latter part of 1998 and which will be extended to its European facilities in 1999. 
The expected improvements in cost and productivity will be offset by customer demand for reductions in
the costs of the products that they purchase from the company. 

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE (“SG&A”) EXPENSES: SG&A expenses were $117.9 million in 1998, or
10.8% of net sales. This compared to $102.4 million, or 10.9% of net sales for 1997. The aggregate dollar
increase in SG&A was primarily attributable to the increased sales volume in commercial aerospace and the
Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. 

RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY (“R&T”) EXPENSES: R&T expenses were $23.6 million in 1998, or 2.2% of net sales.
This compared to $18.4 million, or 2.0% of net sales for 1997. The aggregate dollar increase in R&T was
attributable to additional expenditures in 1998 resulting from an increased commitment to R&T activities
and, to a lesser extent, the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. 

OPERATING INCOME: Operating income increased from $76.5 million, or 8.2% of net sales, in 1997 to $117.0
million, or 10.8% of net sales, in 1998. The aggregate increase in operating income reflects the higher 
sales volume, improved gross margins, a $12.6 million decrease in business acquisition and consolidation
expenses and $7.6 million from the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. Excluding business acquisition and
consolidation expenses, operating income as a percentage of sales increased from 10.9% in 1997 to 11.9%
in 1998.

INTEREST EXPENSE: Interest expense was $38.7 million, or 3.6% of net sales, for 1998 compared to $25.7 
million, or 2.7% of net sales, for 1997. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to the additional
financing required for the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business as well as working capital needs, and a 
$1.6 million write-off of capitalized loan fees relating to the company’s previous credit facilities. 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES: The effective income tax rate for 1998 was 36%. For the year ended December
31, 1997, the benefit for income taxes was $22.9 million, which included a $39.0 million reversal of a U.S.
tax valuation allowance.

Prior to September 30, 1997, the company had fully provided valuation allowances against its U.S. net
deferred tax assets as there were uncertainties regarding the company’s ability to generate sufficient future
taxable income to realize these net deferred tax assets. On September 30, 1997, the company reversed 
its U.S. tax valuation allowance as it was more likely than not that these tax assets would be realized. 
As a result, excluding the $39.0 million U.S. valuation allowance reversal, no provision for U.S. federal
income taxes had been recorded for the first nine months of 1997 due to the utilization of net operating 
loss carryforwards. The company continues to reserve the balance of the net deferred tax assets of its
Belgium operations. 

NET INCOME: Net income for 1998 was $50.4 million or $1.24 per diluted share compared with $73.6 
million or $1.74 per diluted share for 1997. As part of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, net income
for 1998 includes $0.5 million of equity in earnings from affiliated companies. Pro forma net income, after
giving effect to the acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business as if the transaction had occurred
at the beginning of the year, was $49.5 million. Excluding business acquisition and consolidation expenses
of $12.7 million and $25.3 million in 1998 and 1997, respectively, and assuming a U.S. effective 
income tax rate of 36% in 1997, net income would have been $1.43 and $1.17 per diluted share in 1998
and 1997, respectively. 

As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, there were 36.3 million and 36.9 million shares of Hexcel common
stock outstanding, respectively. See Note 13 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for 
the calculation, including the number of shares used, of diluted net income per share.

production. The military market uses a higher percentage of advanced structural materials and higher value
products than the commercial market. The company is currently qualified to supply materials to a broad 
range of military aircraft and helicopters scheduled to enter full-scale production at the start of the 
next decade. These programs include V-22 (Osprey) tilt-roter, F-22 (Raptor), F/A-18E/F (Hornet), C-17
transport, European Fighter Aircraft (Typhoon), RAH-66 (Comanche) and NH90 helicopter.

Pro forma electronics net sales decreased 12% from 1997 to 1998. In the second and third quarters of 1998,
the electronics industry, including the company, experienced a worldwide reduction in sales volume, 
primarily resulting from inventory adjustments across the supply chain. Towards the end of the third 
quarter and into the fourth quarter of 1998, the company experienced increased order volume for woven
fiberglass products used in electronic PCB applications, suggesting an end to the inventory correction.
However, intense competition from manufacturers located in Asia continues to place pressure on volumes
and prices for these products. In light of market uncertainties, the company can not predict as to when these
conditions in the electronic market for woven fiberglass products may recover and therefore continues 
to pursue opportunities to reduce the cost of its products and enhance its ability to compete effectively. 
The company has been successful in partially offsetting these price reductions by obtaining lower raw 
material prices. Nevertheless, the company anticipates that its electronic net sales in 1999 will be less than
1998 pro forma net sales. 

Pro forma general industrial net sales for advanced structural materials decreased 16% from 1997 to 1998,
primarily reflecting a reduction in the level of soft body armor sales to various government agencies.
Nevertheless, the company anticipates that net sales to certain of the emerging markets for the company’s
products accumulated in the general industrial market will continue to grow in 1999 compared to 1998
pro forma net sales, with growth opportunities coming from ground transportation, architectural and civil
engineering, wind energy and soft body armor applications. This growth is currently anticipated to offset
the reduction in net sales in the commercial aerospace market.

Pro forma recreation net sales decreased 15% from 1997 to 1998, reflecting reduced customer demand for
certain products in this market, including, one particular customer who is changing the design of many 
of its athletic shoes to alternative materials. The company currently anticipates that its 1999 recreation 
market revenues will be at the same level as 1998.

Backlog for aerospace materials was $452.1 million as of December 31, 1998, a 5% decrease over backlog
as of December 31, 1997. The decrease in backlog reflects a number of factors, including a continuing 
trend toward shorter lead times and better supply-chain management by the industry overall. In light of 
changing conditions in the aerospace industry, twelve month backlog information may no longer be a 
meaningful trend indicator. The company continues to closely watch the economic situation in Asia, along
with overall aircraft orders and production trends, to monitor future sales. 

Backlog for the non-aerospace markets was $41.0 million as of December 31, 1998, compared to $43.5
million as of December 31, 1997. The decrease in backlog is primarily attributable to a decrease in orders
from customers in the recreation market. Customers in the electronics, general industrial and recreation
markets generally operate with little advance purchasing and thus, backlog is subject to certain fluctuations.
The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business also operates with nominal backlog. The company’s backlog in the
non-aerospace markets for the next twelve months is therefore not necessarily a meaningful indicator of
future sales. 

GROSS MARGIN: Gross margin for 1998 was $271.3 million, or 24.9% of net sales, compared with $222.6 
million, or 23.8% of net sales, for 1997. Excluding the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, 1998 gross 
margin was also 24.9%. The improvement in 1998 gross margin relative to 1997 is the result of higher sales
volume and the benefit from the company’s 1996 consolidation and restructuring program. While gross
margin for 1998 increased over 1997, on a quarterly trend basis, the company’s gross margin percentage
has leveled off as the company’s 1996 business consolidation program has approached completion and
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GROSS MARGIN: Gross margin for 1997 was $222.6 million, or 23.8% of net sales, compared with $141.3 
million, or 20.3% of net sales, for 1996. The improvement in 1997 gross margin relative to 1996 was
the result of higher sales volume, expansion of the company’s fibers capacity and continued advances in
manufacturing productivity resulting from the company’s consolidation and restructuring activities.
Product price changes were not a significant factor in the 1997 gross margin improvement.

The integration of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses into Hexcel, including the consolidation and
rationalization of manufacturing facilities and processes, is a primary objective of the business consolidation
program. While the company began to realize the productivity improvements in 1997 as a result of the 
program, these improvements will not be fully realized until 1999.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE (“SG&A”) EXPENSES: SG&A expenses were $102.4 million in 1997, or
10.9% of net sales. This compares to $79.4 million, or 11.4% of net sales for 1996. The aggregate dollar
increase in SG&A was primarily attributable to the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses. 

RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY (“R&T”) EXPENSES: R&T expenses were $18.4 million in 1997, or 2.0% of net sales.
This compared to $16.7 million, or 2.4% of net sales for 1996. The aggregate dollar increase in R&T was
attributable to the additional activity from the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses. 

OPERATING INCOME: Operating income increased from $2.8 million, or 0.4% of net sales, in 1996 to $76.5
million, or 8.2% of net sales, in 1997. The aggregate increase in operating income reflects the higher sales
volume, improved gross margins and a $17.0 million decrease in business acquisition and consolidation
expenses. Excluding business acquisition and consolidation expenses, operating income as a percentage of
sales increased from 6.5% in 1996 to 10.9% in 1997.

INTEREST EXPENSE: Interest expense was $25.7 million, or 2.7% of net sales, for 1997 compared to $21.5 
million, or 3.1% of net sales, for 1996. The increase in interest expense primarily represents the cost of
financing the acquisitions of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses. The 1996 amount also includes 
a $3.4 million write-off of capitalized debt issuance costs.

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES: As previously discussed, in 1997 the company reversed $39.0 million of its U.S.
valuation allowance reserves in accordance with SFAS 109. Prior to 1997, the company had fully provided
valuation allowance reserves against its net deferred tax assets in the U.S. and Belgium where there were
uncertainties in generating sufficient future taxable income. 

NET INCOME (LOSS): Net income for 1997 was $73.6 million or $1.74 per diluted share compared with a 
net loss of $19.2 million or $0.58 per diluted share for 1996. Excluding the $25.3 million in business 
acquisition and consolidation expenses and assuming a U.S. effective income tax rate of 36%, 1997 
adjusted net income would have been $1.17 per diluted share. Pro forma net income for 1996 would have
been $0.48 per diluted share on a comparable basis.

There were 36.7 million weighted average shares outstanding in 1997 compared to 33.4 million during
1996. The increase in the number of weighted average shares in 1997 was primarily attributable to the 
full year impact of the delivery of 18.0 million newly issued shares of Hexcel common stock to Ciba on
February 29, 1996 in connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business. As of December 31,
1997, there were 36.9 million shares of Hexcel common stock issued and outstanding. See Note 13 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for the calculation, including the number of shares used, of
diluted net income per share. 

F i n a n c i a l  C o n d i t i o n  a n d  L i q u i d i t y

Financial Resources
In connection with the acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business on September 15, 1998, Hexcel
obtained a new global credit facility (the “Senior Credit Facility”) to: (a) fund the purchase of the Acquired

1997 Compared to 1996
NET SALES: Net sales for 1997 were $936.9 million, compared with net sales for 1996 of $695.3 million. 
On a pro forma basis, including full year results of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses, 1996 sales 
were approximately $798.5 million. The 17% increase from pro forma 1996 sales was largely attributable
to improved sales of composite materials to commercial aerospace customers and sales of engineered 
products to Boeing. This increase was partially offset by the translation effect of the strengthening U.S. 
dollar. On a constant currency basis, 1997 sales would have been approximately $38.0 million higher,
reflecting a 22% increase over 1996 pro forma sales.

Approximately 46% of Hexcel’s 1997 sales were to Boeing, Airbus, and related subcontractors, as compared
to 32% in 1996. The increase is primarily due to the growth of the commercial aerospace market and to a
much lesser extent Boeing’s acquisition of McDonnell Douglas Corporation, which was completed on
August 1, 1997. Reported commercial aircraft deliveries by Boeing and Airbus improved significantly in
1997, from a combined 397 aircraft in 1996 to 557 aircraft in 1997, including 375 from Boeing and 182
deliveries by Airbus. As previously discussed, depending on the product, orders placed with Hexcel are
received anywhere between one and eighteen months prior to delivery of the aircraft to the customer. 
The company sells material for every model of commercial aircraft sold by Boeing and Airbus, with sales
per aircraft ranging from $0.2 million to over $1.0 million per aircraft on the Boeing 777.

Net sales to third-party customers by product group and market segment for 1997 and on a pro forma basis
for 1996, which includes full year results of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses, are presented below.
These net sales and pro forma net sales, excluding the effects of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business were:

Commercial Space & General
IN MILLIONS Aerospace Defense Electronics Industrial Recreation Total

1997 Net Sales
Reinforcement products $ 23.7 $ 13.9 $ 48.3 $ 71.2 $ 13.0 $ 170.1

Composite materials 403.9 64.2 – 63.9 53.4 585.4

Engineered products 169.8 10.2 – 1.4 – 181.4

Total $ 597.4 $ 88.3 $ 48.3 $ 136.5 $ 66.4 $ 936.9

64% 9% 5% 15% 7% 100%

1996 Pro Forma Net Sales
Reinforcement products $ 17.4 $ 20.2 $ 47.2 $ 69.6 $ 27.4 $ 181.8

Composite materials 317.1 60.8 – 60.8 63.3 502.0

Engineered products 102.5 10.4 – 1.8 – 114.7

Total $ 437.0 $ 91.4 $ 47.2 $ 132.2 $ 90.7 $ 798.5

55% 11% 6% 17% 11% 100%

The 37% growth in net sales to the commercial aerospace market from 1996 to 1997 was largely 
attributable to increased sales of composite materials and engineered products. The improvement in sales of
composite materials reflects the commercial aircraft build rate increase noted above. The improvement for
engineered products primarily reflects the production of structural and interior components outsourced to
Hexcel by Boeing throughout 1997, as well as strong shipments of retrofit interiors to airline customers. 

Space and defense net sales decreased 3% from 1996 to 1997, reflecting a decrease in sales of reinforcement
products, which were partially offset by improved sales of composite materials to select military programs.

Electronics net sales in 1996 were comparable to 1997. The 3% increase in general industrial net sales was
largely due to improved sales of composite materials for various transportation applications. Recreation net
sales decreased 27% from 1996 to 1997, reflecting the shift in emphasis of production to the commercial
aerospace market as a result of the increased demand.  Hexcel anticipated sales to the electronics, general
industrial and recreation markets to grow modestly throughout 1998.
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Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures were $66.5 million in 1998 compared with $57.4 million in 1997 and $43.6 million
in 1996. Pro forma 1998 capital expenditures were approximately $70 million. The increase in 1998 
expenditures over prior years reflects the impact of the company’s various acquisitions on capital 
requirements, including the impact of certain business consolidation activities. The increase also reflects
expenditures on manufacturing equipment necessary to improve manufacturing processes and to expand
production capacity for select product lines. As a result of the company’s consolidation activities and the
global capacity review that will be performed in 1999, the company expects that capital spending will
decrease in 1999 to approximately $45 to $50 million.

Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Flows and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
1998: Earnings before business acquisition and consolidation expenses, other income, interest, bankruptcy
reorganization expenses, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”) was $177.2 million. Pro
forma Adjusted EBITDA, giving effect to the acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business as if the
transaction had occurred at the beginning of the year, was approximately $208 million. Net cash provided
by operating activities was $93.8 million, as $50.4 million of net income and $54.3 million of non-cash
depreciation, amortization and deferred income taxes, was partially offset by increased working capital of
$14.5 million which resulted from the increase in sales volume. 

Net cash used for investing activities was $539.2 million, reflecting $472.8 million of net cash paid for 
the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, and $66.5 million of capital expenditures. Net cash provided by
financing activities was $440.7 million, primarily reflecting $459.7 million of net funds borrowed under the
Senior and Revolving Credit Facilities, including the financing of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, 
offset in part by the repurchase of $10.0 million of treasury stock and $10.3 million of debt issuance costs
related to the Senior and Amended Revolving Credit Facilities. 

1997: Adjusted EBITDA for 1997 was $137.6 million and pro forma Adjusted EBITDA was $188.3 
million. Net cash provided from operations was $29.2 million including $33.6 million of business 
acquisition and consolidation payments and a $46.7 million increase in working capital as a result of the
increase in sales volume. 

Net cash used for investing activities was $82.9 million, including $57.4 for capital expenditures and 
$37.0 million for the Fiberite transaction, partially offset by $13.5 million of proceeds from the sale of 
the Anaheim facility and the company’s 50% interest in the Knytex joint venture to Owens Corning. 
These investing activities were funded by cash from operations and $57.2 million of borrowings primarily
under the Revolving Credit Facility. 

1996: Adjusted EBITDA was $71.9 million. Pro forma Adjusted EBITDA, giving effect to the acquisitions
of the Acquired Ciba and Hercules Businesses as if those transactions had occurred at the beginning of the
year, was approximately $86 million.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $33.8 million. Net cash used for investing activities was
$206.4 million, including $164.4 million used in connection with the acquisitions of the Acquired Ciba and
Hercules Businesses and $43.6 million for capital expenditures. Net cash provided by financing activities, 
including borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and proceeds from the issuance of $114.5 million
in convertible subordinated notes, was $174.4 million. Non-cash financing of the purchase of the Acquired
Ciba Business included the issuance of debt securities valued at $37.2 million and the issuance of 18.0 
million shares of Hexcel common stock valued at $144.2 million.

Adjusted EBITDA and pro forma Adjusted EBITDA have been presented to provide a measure of Hexcel’s
operating performance that is commonly used by investors and financial analysts to analyze and compare
companies. Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled financial measures of other 
companies. Adjusted EBITDA and pro forma Adjusted EBITDA do not represent alternative measures

Clark-Schwebel Business; (b) refinance the company’s existing revolving credit facility; and (c) provide for
ongoing working capital and other financing requirements of the company. The Senior Credit Facility, prior
to the issuance in January 1999 of $240.0 million principal amount of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2009 (the “Senior Subordinated Notes”), provided for up to $910.0 million of borrowing capacity.
Available committed borrowing capacity under the Senior Credit Facility at December 31, 1998, was
$281.0 million, of which $115.5 million could have been drawn after recognition of certain loan covenants
that form part of this credit agreement. 

On January 21, 1999, the company issued $240.0 million of Senior Subordinated Notes. Net proceeds of
approximately $231 million from this offering were used to repay amounts owed under the Senior Credit
Facility. Simultaneously with the closing of this offering, the company amended the Senior Credit Facility
to, among other things, reduce the available borrowing capacity to $672.0 million, modify certain 
financial covenants and to permit the offering. On February 17, 1999, the company also redeemed $12.5
million of its increasing rate senior subordinated notes payable to Ciba. Such repayment was financed 
with borrowings under the company’s Senior Credit Facility. The company anticipates making further 
redemptions as it generates free cash flow.

In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Hercules Business in 1996, Hexcel obtained a revolving
credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facility was obtained to: (a) refinance
outstanding indebtedness under a senior secured credit facility; (b) finance the purchase of the Acquired
Hercules Business; and (c) provide for the ongoing working capital and other financing requirements of the
company, including business consolidation activities, on a worldwide basis. The Revolving Credit Facility
was amended in March 1998 (the “Amended Revolving Credit Facility”) and in September 1998, the Senior
Credit Facility replaced the Amended Revolving Credit Facility. The Amended Revolving Credit Facility,
prior to its replacement, had provided up to $355.0 million of borrowing capacity and would have expired
in March 2003.

The company expects that its financial resources, including the Senior Credit Facility, will be sufficient 
to fund the company’s worldwide operations for the foreseeable future. Nonetheless, one of the company’s
primary goals over the next few years is generating operating cash flow to reduce debt, including reducing
working capital. Further discussion of the company’s financial resources is contained in Note 7 to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Capital Lease Obligation 
Hexcel entered into a $50.0 million capital lease for property, plant and equipment used in the Acquired
Clark-Schwebel Business. The lease expires in September 2006 and includes various purchase options. 

Stock Buyback Plans
In 1998, the company’s Board of Directors approved plans to repurchase up to $20.0 million of the 
company’s common stock. During the year ended December 31, 1998, the company repurchased 
0.8 million shares of its common stock at an average cost of $12.32 per share, for a total of $10.0 million.
The Board of Directors may also approve additional stock buybacks from time to time subject to market
conditions and the terms of the company’s credit agreements and indentures. The purchases may be made
in the open market at prevailing prices or in privately negotiated transactions. The company does not 
currently anticipate repurchasing additional common stock in 1999.

Other Capital Commitments
Mandatory redemption of the company’s 7% convertible subordinated debentures, due 2011, is scheduled
to begin in 2002 through annual sinking fund requirements of $1.1 million in 2002 and $1.8 million in
each year thereafter. 

The company has total estimated financial commitments to its proposed joint ventures in China and Malaysia
of approximately $31 million. These commitments are expected to be made in increments through 2001. 
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of the company’s manufacturing operations in Europe, the consolidation of the company’s U.S. special
process manufacturing activities, and the integration of sales, marketing and administrative resources. 
Management expected that this consolidation program would take approximately three years to complete,
in part because of the aerospace industry requirements to “qualify” specific equipment and manufacturing
facilities for the manufacture of certain products. These qualification requirements increase the complexity,
cost and time of moving equipment and rationalizing manufacturing activities.

As of December 31, 1998, the primary remaining activities of this consolidation program relate to the 
company’s European operations and certain customer qualifications of equipment transferred within the
U.S. The company expects that activities related to this consolidation program will be completed in 1999.
Total expenses for this program, which remains unchanged since December 31, 1997, were $54.7 million,
excluding $13.0 million of expenses relating to the Fiberite transaction, which were not included in the 
original program. The company anticipates no additional expenses in relation to this consolidation program.

The company initially estimated that 1996 business consolidation program would result in annual cost
reductions of $32 million per year, beginning in 1999. Due to the nature of the program (i.e., consolidation
of existing and acquired businesses, while at the same time the company was experiencing an increase in 
its commercial aerospace market), the exact amount of annual savings is difficult to isolate. However, the
company continues to believe that cost savings have been achieved and, upon completion of the program,
estimated cost savings will equal or exceed the target of $32 million per year. The program was a key 
contributor to the company’s improvement in operating margins in 1997 and 1998.

Further discussion and analysis of the company’s business consolidation programs is contained in Note 3 to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

M a r k e t  R i s k s

The company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows are subject to market risks, which 
primarily include fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rate variability. 

Interest Rate Risks
The company’s long-term debt bears interest at both fixed and variable rates. As a result, the company’s
results of operations are affected by interest rate changes on its variable rate debt. In order to mitigate 
a portion of this risk, in 1998 the company entered into an interest rate cap agreement which covers a 
notional amount of $50.0 million of the company’s variable rate debt under the Senior Credit Facility. 
In addition, on January 21, 1999, the company issued $240.0 million of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes,
due 2009. Net proceeds of approximately $231 million from this offering were used to redeem variable rate
amounts owed under the Senior Credit Facility. On February 17, 1999, the company repaid $12.5 million
of its senior subordinated notes payable to Ciba, which was fixed (but increasing) rate debt. The repayment
was financed with borrowings under the company’s Senior Credit Facility. 

The table below presents the impact on the company’s net income and pro forma net income, as if the 
acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business had occurred at the beginning of the year and, after
adjusting interest expense for the above refinancings, of a 10% favorable and a 10% unfavorable change in
the company’s variable rate debt: 

10% 10%
As Favorable Unfavorable

IN MILLIONS Reported Change Change

Net income $ 50.4 $ 52.0 $ 48.9

Pro forma net income 49.5 52.4 46.5

of the company’s cash flows or operating income, and should not be considered in isolation or as substitutes 
for measures of performance presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for 1998, 1997 and 1996 is as follows:

IN MILLIONS 1998 1997 1996

Net income (loss) $ 50.4 $ 73.6 $ (19.1)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 28.4 (22.9) 3.4

Interest expense 38.7 25.7 21.5

Depreciation and amoritization expense 47.5 35.9 26.7

Equity in earnings of affiliated companies (0.5) – –

EBITDA 164.5 112.3 32.5

Business acquisition and consolidation expenses 12.7 25.3 42.4

Other income – – (3.0)

Adjusted EBITDA $177.2 $137.6 $ 71.9

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges for 1998 and 1997 was 2.9. In 1996, the deficiency of earnings 
to fixed charges was $15.8 million. The calculation of earnings to fixed charges assumes that one-third of
the company’s rental expense, representing a reasonable approximation of such rentals, is attributable to
interest expense.

B u s i n e s s  C o n s o l i d a t i o n  P r o g r a m s

In December 1998, Hexcel announced consolidation actions within its reinforcement fabrics and composite
materials businesses. These actions included the integration of Hexcel’s existing fabrics business with 
the U.S. operations of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, and the combination of the company’s 
U.S., European and Pacific Rim composite materials businesses into a single, global business unit. 
These actions are intended to eliminate redundancies, improve manufacturing planning, and enhance 
customer service, and resulted in the elimination of approximately 100 operating, sales, marketing and
administrative positions. The cost of these actions, together with a $6.4 million non-cash charge for 
writing down certain assets held for disposition and another $0.7 million incurred for costs related to a 
proposed acquisition that was not consummated, resulted in the recognition of $12.7 million in business
acquisition and consolidation expenses in 1998. Beginning in 1999, the company anticipates annual cash
savings from these business consolidation activities to be approximately $10 million. 

In addition to these initiatives, the company expects to complete a global capacity review of its worldwide
facilities requirements during 1999. On March 16, 1999, the company announced the closing of its
Cleveland, Georgia facility, which currently employs 100 people and produces fabrics for the electronics
market. Production equipment from the facility will be relocated to the company’s Anderson, S.C. facility,
with the closure expected to be completed by July 1, 1999. Anticipated cash savings from this business 
consolidation activity will help offset competitive pricing pressures in the company’s electronics market. 
In addition to this facility closure, the global capacity review may result in the closing or right-sizing of 
additional facilities and, as a result, additional consolidation charges will be recognized in 1999.

In 1996, Hexcel announced plans to consolidate the company’s operations over a period of three 
years. The objective of the program was to integrate acquired assets and operations into Hexcel, and to 
reorganize the company’s manufacturing and research activities around strategic centers dedicated to 
select product technologies. The business consolidation program was also intended to eliminate excess
manufacturing capacity and redundant administrative functions. Specific actions of the consolidation 
program included the elimination of 245 manufacturing, marketing and administrative positions, the
closure of the Anaheim, California facility acquired in connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba
Business (the building was sold in 1997 for net proceeds of approximately $8.5 million), the reorganization
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Business Systems & Devices
In order to address the Year 2000 issue as it relates to the company’s Business Systems and Devices, 
the company has developed, and is in the process of implementing, a six phase plan. The company is 
also using external consulting services, where appropriate, as part of its efforts to address its Year 
2000 issue. In implementing this plan, the company has been, and continues to be substantially on 
schedule. The components of this plan and their related status, as of February 28, 1999, are detailed below
and apply to both the company’s Business Systems and its Devices: 

(I) INVENTORY: This phase, which was completed in December 1998, consisted of compiling a detailed listing
of the company’s Business Systems and Devices likely to be impacted by the Year 2000 issue.

(II) RISK ASSESSMENT AND ASSIGNING PRIORITIES: This phase consisted of assessing the likelihood that a Business
System or Device is not Year 2000 compliant as well as assigning a priority of importance to the particular
Business System or Device as it relates to the company’s business operations. This phase was completed 
in December 1998.

(III) ASSESSING COMPLIANCE: This phase consists of assessing Year 2000 compliance on the company’s Business
Systems or Devices which have been identified as essential to the company’s business operations. 
In assessing compliance, the company performs a variety of tasks including, obtaining Year 2000 
compliance statements and information from the company’s vendors and service providers. This phase is
substantially complete, with final completion estimated by March 31, 1999. However, in order to complete
this phase, the company is dependent upon the cooperation from its suppliers and service providers as well
as the completeness and accuracy of their responses.

(IV) REPAIRING OR REPLACING: This phase consists of repairing and replacing non-Year 2000 compliant Business
Systems and Devices which are essential to the company’s operations. This phase is approximately 50%
complete, with substantial completion estimated by June 30, 1999.  

(V) TESTING: This phase consists of testing the repair or replacement of those Business Systems and Devices
which are essential to the company’s business operations. The company also intends to test the integration
of the various Business Systems and Devices within the company’s manufacturing processes. This phase is
approximately 45% complete, with substantial completion estimated by June 30, 1999. The results of this
phase may change the estimated timing of completion of phase four. 

(VI) DEVELOPING CONTINGENCY PLANS: This phase consists of developing alternative plans in the event that a 
business interruption occurs from a Year 2000 issue. The company is in the early stages of this phase. 
The company has targeted September 30, 1999 as the date of substantially completing its contingency
plans, however, the company believes that this phase will be on-going through to the year 2000. 

Suppliers & Customers
The company is also monitoring the status of its significant suppliers and customers as a means of assessing
risks and developing alternatives. The company has sent out surveys to all of its significant suppliers 
and customers to determine what steps, if any, those companies are taking to remediate their respective 
Year 2000 issues. The company is, however, dependent upon its suppliers and customers with respect to 
the completeness and accuracy of such responses. 

As of February 28, 1999, the company has received responses from nearly two-thirds and one-third of 
its significant suppliers and customers, respectively. The responses from the company’s suppliers generally
indicate that these parties are taking actions to ensure that their ability to supply products or services to 
the company will not be impaired. To the extent that supplier responses to Year 2000 readiness are 
unsatisfactory, the company will attempt to reduce risks of interruptions, with such options including
changes in suppliers to those who have demonstrated Year 2000 readiness, and accumulation of inventory.
The responses from the company’s customers also generally indicate that these parties are taking actions to

Foreign Currency Risks
The company is subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk relating to receipts from customers and 
payments to suppliers using non-local or “non-functional” currencies. In general, the company maintains a
“naturally hedged” position where it balances customer receipts and supplier payments with similar 
currencies. Net exposures are hedged by purchasing foreign currency forward contracts. Consistent with the
nature of the economic hedge of such foreign exchange contracts, any unrealized gain or loss would be 
offset by corresponding decreases or increases, respectively, of the underlying transaction being hedged. 
As of December 31, 1998, the company had limited net exposure in relation to its non-functional 
currencies as well as a limited amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts. Accordingly, the impact
of a 10% appreciation and a 10% depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the company’s net non-functional
currencies and foreign exchange contracts would not represent a material potential gain or loss in fair value,
earnings or cash flows. In addition, the company is generally not exposed to Asian currencies as transactions
with customers in Pacific Rim countries are predominately denominated in U.S. dollars, British pounds or
French francs.

The primary currencies for which the company has foreign currency translation exchange rate exposure are
the U.S. dollar versus the British pound, French franc, German mark, Belgium franc, Austrian schilling and
Spanish peseta. With the introduction of the Euro, the company’s primary exposures are now between the
U.S. dollar, British pound and the Euro. The company does not participate in hedging activities to 
offset translation effects of changes in foreign exchange rates on the company’s consolidated financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows. The impact of a 10% appreciation or 10% depreciation of the
U.S. dollar against the company’s net underlying foreign currency translation exposures could be significant.

Other Risks 
As of December 31, 1998, the aggregate fair values of the company’s convertible subordinated notes, due
2003, and the convertible subordinated debentures, due 2011, were $96.1 million and $19.0 million,
respectively. These debt securities are convertible into Hexcel common stock at a conversion price of $15.81
and $30.72 per share, respectively. Fair values were estimated on the basis of quoted market prices, although
trading in these debt securities is limited and may not reflect fair value. Due to the conversion feature 
in these debt securities, fair values are subject to fluctuations based on the value of the company’s stock 
and the company’s credit rating, as well as changes in interest rates for debt securities with similar terms.
Assuming all other factors remain constant, the fair values of the company’s convertible 
subordinated notes, due 2003, and the convertible subordinated debentures, due 2011, would be 
approximately $99.6 million and $19.2 million, respectively, assuming a 10% favorable change in the 
market price of the company’s common stock, and $92.7 million and $18.7 million, respectively, assuming
a 10% unfavorable change in market price.

Ye a r  2 0 0 0  R e a d i n e s s  D i s c l o s u r e

Hexcel, like most other companies, is continuing to address whether its information technology systems and
non-information technology devices with embedded microprocessors (collectively “Business Systems and
Devices”) will recognize and process dates starting with the year 2000 and beyond (the “Year 2000”). The
Year 2000 issue can arise at any point in the company’s supply, manufacturing, processing and distribution
chains. The company does not, however, manufacture or sell products that contain microprocessors or soft-
ware. 

The company has established a central Year 2000 project office to coordinate and monitor progress towards
achieving corporate-wide Year 2000 compliance. A discussion of the company’s Business Systems and
Devices, suppliers and vendors as they pertain to the company’s Year 2000 issues, as of February 28, 1999,
is detailed as follows:  
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regarding the impact of pricing pressures from Hexcel’s customers; (e) expectations regarding the ability 
of Hexcel to pass along price reductions to its suppliers; (f) expectations regarding future sales based 
on current backlog; (g) expectations regarding sales growth, sales mix, gross margins, manufacturing
productivity, capital expenditures and treasury stock repurchases; (h) expectations regarding Hexcel’s 
financial condition and liquidity, as well as future free cash flows and earnings; (i) estimates of the total 
cost of Hexcel’s 1996 business consolidation program and the likelihood that additional business 
acquisition and consolidation expenses would be incurred in 1999; (j) expectations regarding the costs and
benefits of accelerating and expanding Hexcel’s Lean Enterprise and business consolidation programs,
including the closure of the company’s Cleveland, GA facility, and implementing a value chain management
program; (k) expectations regarding the exercise of the CS-Interglas options at their stated price; (l) the
impact of various market risk fluctuations, including fluctuations in: the company’s variable rate debt; 
currencies in which the company has translation exposure to; and changes in the market value of the 
company’s common stock; and; (m) the impact of the Year 2000 issue, the estimated costs associated with
becoming Year 2000 compliant and the estimated target date for substantial completion of remediation. 

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
that may cause actual results to be materially different. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the 
following: the integration of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business without disruption to manufacturing,
marketing and distribution activities; changes in general economic and business conditions; changes in cur-
rent pricing levels; changes in political, social and economic conditions and local regulations, particularly in
Asia and Europe; foreign currency fluctuations; changes in aerospace delivery rates; reductions in sales to
any significant customers, particularly Boeing or Airbus; changes in sales mix; changes in government
defense procurement budgets; changes in military aerospace programs technology; industry capacity; 
competition; disruptions of established supply channels; manufacturing capacity constraints; the 
availability, terms and deployment of capital; and the ability of Hexcel to accurately estimate the cost of 
systems preparation and successfully implement required actions for Year 2000 compliance. 

If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if underlying assumptions prove incorrect, 
our actual results may vary materially from those expected, estimated or projected. In addition to other 
factors that affect the company’s operating results and financial position, past financial performance or the
company’s expectations should not be considered to be a reliable indicator of future performance. Investors
should not use historical trends to anticipate results or trends in future periods. Further, the company’s stock
price is subject to volatility. Any of the factors discussed above could have an adverse impact on the 
company’s stock price. In addition, failure of sales or income in any quarter to meet the investment 
community’s expectations, as well as broader market trends, can have an adverse impact on the company’s
stock price. 

The company does not undertake an obligation to update its forward-looking statements or risk factors to
reflect future events or circumstances. 

ensure their ability to purchase products from the company will not be impaired. The company will 
continue to monitor the status of all of its significant suppliers’ and customers’ Year 2000 readiness through
to the year 2000, in order to determine whether additional or alternative measures are necessary.

Total estimated costs to address the company’s Year 2000 issues, including preparing the company’s
Business Systems and Devices to become Year 2000 compliant, is approximately $5.5 million, of 
which approximately $1.5 million has been incurred as of February 28, 1999. The total estimated cost
includes approximately $1 million of capital expenditures to be used for the purchase of certain capital
equipment to replace equipment which is currently not Year 2000 compliant. The estimate also includes
the cost of certain internal resources fully dedicated to this project, however, it does not include any 
costs associated with the implementation of contingency plans, which have not yet been developed. 
The company has not used any external resources to independently verify these cost estimates. Due to
resource constraints caused by the Year 2000 issue, the company is deferring other information technology
projects. These deferrals, however, are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the company’s
results of operations or financial condition. 

As the company has not yet developed its contingency plans (these plans are expected to be completed 
by September 30, 1999), it is unable to assess the most reasonably likely worst case scenario. However, 
if necessary remediation actions are not completed in a timely manner, or if the company’s suppliers and
customers do not successfully address their Year 2000 issues, the company estimates that a disruption 
in operations could occur. Such a disruption could result in, for example, delays in the receipt of raw 
materials and distribution of finished goods, or errors in customer orders. These consequences could 
have a material impact on the operations, liquidity and financial condition of the company. The company
presently believes that by implementing its plans, including modifications to existing Business Systems and
Devices and conversion to new or upgraded software and other systems, the Year 2000 issue will not pose
significant operational problems for the company.  

R e c e n t l y  I s s u e d  A c c o u n t i n g  S t a n d a r d

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”). This Statement requires companies to record
derivatives on the balance sheet as assets and liabilities, measured at fair value. Gains or losses resulting from
changes in the values of those derivatives would be accounted for depending on the use of the derivative and
whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. SFAS 133 is not expected to have a material impact on Hexcel’s
consolidated financial statements. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999.
Hexcel will adopt this accounting standard as required by January 1, 2000.

F o r w a r d - L o o k i n g  S t a t e m e n t s  a n d  R i s k  Fa c t o r s

This annual report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements relate to analyses and other information which are 
based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements also
relate to future prospects, developments and business strategies. These forward-looking statements are 
identified by their use of terms and phrases such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “will” and similar terms and phrases, including references to
assumptions. Such statements are based on current expectations, are inherently uncertain, and are subject
to changing assumptions. 

Such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: (a) estimates of commercial aerospace 
production and delivery rates, including those of Boeing and Airbus; (b) estimates of the change in net sales
in total and by market compared to 1998 pro forma net sales; (c) expectations regarding the growth in 
the production of military aircraft and launch vehicle programs in 2000 and beyond; (d) expectations
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Hexcel management has prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial statements and the 
related financial data contained in this report. These financial statements, which include estimates, were 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Management uses its best judgment
to ensure that such statements reflect fairly the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash
flows of the company.

Hexcel maintains accounting and other control systems, which management believes provide reasonable
assurance that financial records are reliable for purposes of preparing financial statements and that assets are
safeguarded and accounted for properly. Underlying this concept of reasonable assurance is the premise that
the cost of control should not exceed benefits derived from control.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors reviews and monitors the financial reports and accounting
practices of Hexcel. These reports and practices are reviewed regularly by management and by the 
company’s independent accountants, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, in connection with the audit of 
the company’s financial statements. The Audit Committee, composed solely of outside directors, meets 
periodically, separately and jointly, with management and the independent accountants.

John J. Lee
Chief Executive Officer

Stephen C. Forsyth
Chief Financial Officer

Wayne C. Pensky
Chief Accounting Officer

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Hexcel Corporation: 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements 
of operations, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Hexcel Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 3l, 1998 and 1997, and the results of 
their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management; our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. The financial statements of Hexcel
Corporation for the year ended December 31, 1996 were audited by other independent accountants whose
report dated February 28, 1997 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
San Jose, California
January 21, 1999, except as to 

Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes Payable and
Aggregate Maturities of Notes Payable and
Indebtedness to Related Parties in Note 7, 
which are as of February 17, 1999 
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1998 1997 1996

Net sales $1,089,044 $ 936,855 $ 695,251

Cost of sales 817,785 714,223 553,942

Gross margin 271,259 222,632 141,309

Selling, general and administrative expenses 117,885 102,449 79,408

Research and technology expenses 23,624 18,383 16,742

Business acquisition and consolidation expenses 12,711 25,343 42,370

Operating income 117,039 76,457 2,789

Interest expense 38,675 25,705 21,537

Other income, net – – (2,994)

Income (loss) before income taxes 78,364 50,752 (15,754)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 28,442 (22,878) 3,436

Equity in earnings of affiliated companies 517 – –

Net income (loss) $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $ (19,190)

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 1.38 $ 2.00 $ (0.58)

Diluted $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58)

Weighted average shares:
Basic 36,675 36,748 33,351

Diluted 45,671 45,997 33,351

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of operations
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

December 31, December 31,
1998 1997

A s s e t s

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,504 $ 9,033
Accounts receivable 188,368 181,192
Inventories 213,199 165,321
Prepaid expenses and other assets 10,111 6,665
Deferred tax asset 19,844 24,839
Total current assets 439,026 387,050
Property, plant and equipment 628,533 488,916 
Less accumulated depreciation (195,960) (157,439)
Net property, plant and equipment 432,573 331,477 
Goodwill and other purchased intangibles, net of accumulated amortization 

of $11,742 in 1998 and $4,657 in 1997 425,405 67,184
Investment in affiliated companies and other assets 107,157 25,875
Total assets $1,404,161 $ 811,586 

L i a b i l i t i e s  a n d  S t o c k h o l d e r s ’ E q u i t y

Current liabilities:
Notes payable and current maturities of capital lease obligations $ 26,867 $ 13,858 
Accounts payable 81,869 70,011 
Accrued compensation and benefits 42,172 37,306 
Other accrued liabilities 68,536 65,181 
Total current liabilities 219,444 186,356 
Long-term notes payable and capital lease obligations 802,376 304,546 
Indebtedness to related parties 35,675 34,967 
Other non-current liabilities 44,267 35,816 
Total liabilities 1,101,762 561,685
Commitments and contingent liabilities (see notes)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, no par value, 20,000 stock authorized,

no stock issued or outstanding in 1998 and 1997 – –
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000 stock authorized, 

stock issued and outstanding of 37,176 in 1998 and 36,891 in 1997 372 369 
Additional paid-in capital 271,469 266,830
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 34,898 (15,541)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 6,313 (1,104)

313,052 250,554
Less–treasury stock, at cost, 847 stock in 1998, 35 stock in 1997 (10,653) (653)
Total stockholders’ equity 302,399 249,901 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,404,161 $ 811,586 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheets
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA
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1998 1997 1996
C a s h  f l o w s  f r o m  o p e r a t i n g  a c t i v i t i e s

Net income (loss) $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $ (19,190)
Reconciliation to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 37,442 33,214 24,656
Amortization 10,012 2,583 2,074
Deferred income taxes 6,850 (33,203) (520)
Accrued business acquisition and consolidation expenses 12,711 25,343 42,370
Business acquisition and consolidation payments (8,651) (33,595) (11,579)
Write-off of purchased in-process technologies – 8,000 –
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies (517) – –
Other income – – (1,560)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 18,214 (37,557) (14,695)
Increase in inventories (9,316) (23,797) (5,072)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets (2,858) 1,667 (1,430)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (17,067) 23,567 15,549
Changes in other non-current assets and long-term liabilities (3,479) (10,606) 3,225

Net cash provided by operating activities 93,780 29,246 33,828

C a s h  f l o w s  f r o m  i n v e s t i n g  a c t i v i t i e s

Capital expenditures (66,530) (57,369) (43,569)
Cash paid for business acquisitions (472,770) (37,000) (164,400)
Dividends received from affiliated companies 1,399 – –
Proceeds from sale of other assets – 13,500 1,560
Advances to affiliated companies (1,250) (2,000) –

Net cash used by investing activities (539,151) (82,869) (206,409)

C a s h  f l o w s  f r o m  f i n a n c i n g  a c t i v i t i e s

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 276 3,199 286,974
Repayments of long-term debt (1,805) (9,679) (124,288)
Proceeds from the Senior and Revolving Credit Facilities 726,044 84,686 15,319
Repayments of the Senior and Revolving Credit Facilities (266,339) (27,500) –
Debt issuance costs (10,264) – (6,792)
Purchase of treasury stock (10,000) (97) (556)
Activity under stock plans 2,753 3,363 3,729

Net cash provided by financing activities 440,665 53,972 174,386
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3,177 709 2,341
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,529) 1,058 4,146
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,033 7,975 3,829
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 7,504 $ 9,033 $ 7,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of cash flows
IN THOUSANDS

Common Stock Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other Total

Paid-in (Accumulated Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders’ Comprehensive
Par Capital Deficit) Income (Loss) Shares Equity Income (Loss)

Balance, January 1, 1996 $181 $111,259 $(69,981) $ 6,915 $ – $48,3774

Net loss (19,190) (19,190) $ (19,190)

Pension obligation adjustment 535 535 535

Currency translation adjustment 1,092 1,092 1,092

Comprehensive loss (17,563)

Issuance of stock to Ciba, 
net of issuance costs of $2,993 180 141,001 141,181

Activity under stock plans 4 7,689 7,693

Other issuance of stock 1 199 200

Treasury stock purchased (556) (556)

Balance, December 31, 1996 366 260,148 (89,171) 8,542 (556) 179,329

Net income 73,630 73,630 73,630

Currency translation adjustment (9,646) (9,646) (9,646)

Comprehensive income 63,984

Activity under stock plans 3 6,632 6,635

Conversion of Subordinated Notes 50 50

Treasury stock purchased (97) (97)

Balance, December 31, 1997 369 266,830 (15,541) (1,104) (653) 249,901

Net income 50,439 50,439 50,439

Currency translation adjustment 7,417 7,417 7,417

Comprehensive income $ 57,856

Activity under stock plans 3 4,624 4,627

Conversion of Subordinated Notes 15 15

Treasury stock purchased (10,000) (10,000)

Balance, December 31, 1998 $372 $271,469 $ 34,898 $ 6,313 $(10,653) $302,399

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity
IN THOUSANDS
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N o t e  1 -  S i g n i f i c a n t  A c c o u n t i n g  P o l i c i e s

Nature of Operations and Basis of Accounting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Hexcel Corporation and 
subsidiaries (“Hexcel” or the “company”), after elimination of intercompany transactions and accounts.
Hexcel is a leading producer of advanced structural materials. The company develops, manufactures 
and markets lightweight, high-performance reinforcement products, composite materials and engineered 
products for use in the commercial aerospace, space and defense, electronics, general industrial and 
recreation markets. The company serves international markets through manufacturing and marketing 
facilities located in the United States and Europe, as well as sales offices in Asia, Australia and South
America. The company is also a member of four joint ventures that manufacture and market reinforcement
products and composite materials in Europe, Asia and the United States.

As discussed in Note 2, Hexcel acquired:

• certain assets and assumed certain operating liabilities from Clark-Schwebel, Inc. and its subsidiaries’ 
(“C-S”) industrial fabrics business (the “Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business”) on September 15, 1998,
including interests in three joint ventures, one of which was acquired on December 23, 1998;

• the worldwide composites division of Ciba-Geigy Limited (“CGL”), a Swiss corporation, and Ciba-Geigy
Corporation, a New York corporation (“CGC” and together with CGL, “Ciba”), including most of 
Ciba’s composite materials, parts and structures businesses, on February 29, 1996. The company 
subsequently acquired Ciba’s Austrian composites business on May 30, 1996, and various remaining
assets of Ciba’s worldwide composites division at various dates through February 28, 1997 (the “Acquired
Ciba Business”);

• the composite products division of Hercules Incorporated (“Hercules”), including Hercules’ carbon 
fibers and prepreg businesses (the “Acquired Hercules Business”), on June 27, 1996; and

• the satellite business and rights to certain technologies from Fiberite, Inc. (“Fiberite”), on September 30,
1997.

All of the above acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets, statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
include the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the businesses acquired as of such dates
and for such periods that these businesses were owned by Hexcel.

Estimates and Assumptions
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes reflect estimates and assumptions
made by the management of Hexcel. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, the disclosures with respect to contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses. Although management believes that the estimates and assumptions used in
preparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes are reasonable in light of
known facts and circumstances, actual results could differ materially from the estimates used.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Hexcel invests excess cash in investments with original maturities of less than three months. The invest-
ments consist primarily of Eurodollar time deposits and are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.
The company considers such investments to be cash equivalents for purposes of the statements of cash flows.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are net of reserves for doubtful accounts of $6,785 and $6,641 as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, respectively.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined using the first-in, first-out and
average cost methods.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as
incurred; replacements and betterments are capitalized. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over
estimated useful lives, using accelerated and straight-line methods. The estimated useful lives range from
10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements and from 3 to 20 years for machinery and equipment. 

Goodwill and Other Purchased Intangibles
Goodwill, representing the excess of purchase price and acquisition costs over the fair value of net assets of
businesses acquired, and other purchased intangibles, are amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated
economic lives which are as follows:

Goodwill from the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business 40 years
Goodwill from the Acquired Ciba Business 20 years
Other purchased intangibles 10-15 years

The company periodically reviews the recoverability of all long-term assets, including the related amortiza-
tion period, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
might not be recoverable. The company determines whether there has been an impairment by comparing
the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows to the related asset’s carrying value. If an asset is 
considered impaired, the asset is written down to fair value which is either determined based on discounted
cash flows or appraised values, depending on the nature of the asset.

Investment in Affiliated Companies
Investment in affiliated companies consists of equity interests in joint ventures, which are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting.

Debt Financing Costs
Debt financing costs are deferred and amortized over the life of the related debt, which ranges from 
7 to 8 years.

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation is accounted for in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion
(“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Accordingly, compensation expense is not 
recognized when options are granted at the fair market value at the date of grant. The company also 
provides additional pro forma disclosures as required under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

Currency Translation
The assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates,
and revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the year. Cumulative currency
translation adjustments are included in “stockholders’ equity.” Realized gains and losses from currency
exchange transactions are recorded in “selling, general and administrative expenses” in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and were not material to the company’s consolidated results of 
operations in 1998, 1997 or 1996.

Revenue Recognition
Product sales are recognized on the date of shipment.
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CS-Interglas and Asahi-Schwebel are fiberglass fabric producers serving the European and Asian electronics
and telecommunications industries. CS Tech-Fab manufactures non-woven materials for roofing, construc-
tion and other specialty applications. The fixed-price options to increase the equity interest in CS-Interglas
are significantly higher than their fair market value and expire on December 31, 1999. The unconsolidated
net sales in 1998 for these joint ventures were in excess of $300,000.

The acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business was completed pursuant to an Asset Purchase
Agreement dated July 25, 1998, as amended, by and among Hexcel, Stamford CS Acquisition Corp., 
and C-S (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”). Under the Asset Purchase Agreement, Hexcel acquired the 
net assets of the acquired business, other than certain excluded assets and liabilities, in exchange for 
approximately $473,000 in cash, including the $19,000 paid on December 23, 1998. The assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed or incurred were:

Estimated fair value of assets acquired:

Cash $ 5,049

Accounts receivable 20,249

Inventories 35,508

Net property, plant and equipment 70,000

Investment in joint ventures, intangibles and other assets 68,389

Goodwill 365,286

Total assets acquired $564,481

Estimated fair value of liabilities assumed or incurred:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 32,523

Capital lease obligations 50,000

Other non-current liabilities 4,139

Total liabilities assumed or incurred $ 86,662

Estimated fair value of net assets acquired $477,819

Less- cash acquired (5,049)

Net cash paid $472,770

The allocations of purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed or incurred in connection with
the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business are based on current estimates of fair values, and are subject to
change until September 15, 1999. As part of the acquisition, Hexcel entered into a $50,000 lease for 
property, plant and equipment used in the acquired business from an affiliate of C-S, pursuant to a long-
term lease which includes purchase options. Refer to Note 7 for acquisition financing. 

Acquired Ciba Business & Acquired Hercules Business
Hexcel acquired most of Ciba’s composite materials, parts and structures businesses on February 29, 1996,
Ciba’s Austrian composites business on May 30, 1996, and various remaining assets of Ciba’s worldwide
composites division at various dates through February 28, 1997. The Acquired Ciba Business is engaged in
the manufacture and marketing of reinforcement fabrics and lightweight, high-performance composite
materials, parts and structures for commercial aerospace, space and defense, general industrial and recre-
ation markets. Product lines include reinforcement fabrics, pre-impregnated fabrics (“prepregs”), structural
adhesives, honeycomb core, sandwich panels and fabricated components, as well as composite structures and
interiors primarily for the commercial and military aerospace markets.

The acquisition of the Acquired Ciba Business was consummated pursuant to a Strategic Alliance
Agreement dated as of September 29, 1995, among Ciba and Hexcel, as amended (the “Strategic Alliance
Agreement”). Under the Strategic Alliance Agreement, the company acquired the assets (including the 

Derivative Financial Instruments
The company employs an interest rate cap agreement and foreign currency forward contracts in the 
management of its interest rate and currency exposures. The company designates its interest rate cap agree-
ment against a specific debt instrument and recognizes interest differentials as adjustments to interest
expense as the differentials occur. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from foreign currency 
forward contracts are recognized in income as offsets to gains and losses resulting from the underlying
hedged transaction. The company does not hold financial instruments for trading purposes.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the company to significant concentrations of credit risk 
consist primarily of trade accounts receivable. The company’s sales to two customers and their related 
subcontractors accounted for approximately 46% of the company’s 1998 and 1997 net sales (see Note 16).
The company performs on-going credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition but generally 
does not require collateral or other security to support customer receivables. The company establishes 
an allowance for doubtful accounts based on factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers, 
historical trends and other financial information. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standard
In June 1998, SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” was issued.
SFAS 133 requires companies to record derivatives on the balance sheet as assets and liabilities, measured
at fair value. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the values of those derivatives would be accounted
for depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. SFAS 133 is not
expected to have a material impact on Hexcel’s consolidated financial statements. SFAS 133 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. Hexcel will adopt this accounting standard as required by
January 1, 2000.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes have
been reclassified to conform to the 1998 presentation.

N o t e  2  -  B u s i n e s s  A c q u i s i t i o n s

Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business
On September 15, 1998, the company acquired certain assets and assumed certain operating liabilities from
C-S. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business is engaged in the manufacture and sale of high-quality fiber-
glass fabrics, which are used to make printed circuit boards (“PCBs”) for electronic equipment such as 
computers, cellular telephones, televisions and automobiles. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business also
produces high performance specialty products for use in insulation, filtration, wall and façade claddings, 
soft body armor and reinforcements for composite materials. The Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business 
currently operates four manufacturing facilities in the southeastern U.S. and has approximately 1,300 
full time employees. As part of this acquisition, Hexcel also acquired C-S’s equity ownership interests in 
the following three joint ventures:

• a 43.6% share in CS-Interglas AG (“CS-Interglas”), headquartered in Germany, together with fixed-
price options to increase this equity interest to 84.0%. Hexcel’s acquisition of the CS-Interglas equity
interest and related options was completed on December 23, 1998; 

• a 43.3% share in Asahi-Schwebel Co., Ltd. (“Asahi-Schwebel”), headquartered in Japan, which in turn 
has its own joint venture with AlliedSignal Inc. in Taiwan; and

• a 50.0% share in Clark-Schwebel Tech-Fab Company (“CS Tech-Fab”), headquartered in the United
States.
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The acquisition of the satellite business and certain technologies from Fiberite on September 30, 1997 was
accounted for using the purchase method. Under this method, substantially all of the $37,000 purchase
price, less the $8,000 write-off of the acquired in-process research and technology, was allocated to intangi-
ble assets. Transaction costs in relation to the downsized transaction were not material.

Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)
The pro forma net sales, net income and diluted net income per share of Hexcel for the years ended
December 31, 1998 and 1997, giving effect to the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, as if it had occurred
at the beginning of the periods presented were:

1998 1997

Pro forma net sales $1,234,772 $1,177,059

Pro forma net income 49,494 76,336 

Pro forma diluted net income per share $1.22 $1.79 

Pro forma adjustments giving effect to the Fiberite transaction as if it occurred at the beginning of 1997
would not have had a material effect to the company’s consolidated financial statements.

N o t e  3  -  B u s i n e s s  C o n s o l i d a t i o n

In December 1998, Hexcel announced consolidation actions within its reinforcement fabrics and 
composite materials businesses. These actions included the integration of Hexcel’s existing fabrics business
with the U.S. operations of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, and the combination of the company’s
U.S., European and Pacific Rim composite materials businesses into a single, global business unit. 
These actions are intended to eliminate redundancies, improve manufacturing planning, and enhance 
customer service, and resulted in  the elimination of approximately 100 operating, sales, marketing and
administrative positions. As of December 31, 1998, the cost of these actions, together with a $6,400 non-
cash charge for writing down certain assets held for disposition and another $711 incurred for costs related
to a proposed acquisition that was not consummated, resulted in the recognition of $12,711 in business
acquisition and consolidation expenses. 

In 1996, Hexcel announced plans to consolidate the company’s operations over a period of three years. The
objective of the program was to integrate acquired assets and operations into Hexcel, and to reorganize the
company’s manufacturing and research activities around strategic centers dedicated to select product 
technologies. The business consolidation program was also intended to eliminate excess manufacturing
capacity and redundant administrative functions. Specific actions of the consolidation program included the
elimination of 245 manufacturing, marketing and administrative positions, the closure of the Anaheim,
California facility acquired in connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business, the reorganiza-
tion of the company’s manufacturing operations in Europe, the consolidation of the company’s U.S. special
process manufacturing activities, and the integration of sales, marketing and administrative resources.
Management expected that this consolidation program would take approximately three years to complete,
in part because of the aerospace industry requirements to “qualify” specific equipment and manufacturing
facilities for the manufacture of certain products. These qualification requirements increase the complexity,
cost and time of moving equipment and rationalizing manufacturing activities.

As of December 31, 1998, the primary remaining activities of this consolidation program relate to the 
company’s European operations and certain customer qualifications of equipment transferred within 
the U.S. The company expects that activities related to this consolidation program will be completed 
in 1999. Total expenses for this program, which remains unchanged since December 31, 1997, were
$54,700, excluding $12,973 of expenses relating to the Fiberite transaction, which were not included in 
the original program. 

capital shares of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries) and assumed the liabilities of the Acquired Ciba Business,
other than certain excluded assets and liabilities, in exchange for: (a) 18,022 newly issued shares of Hexcel
common stock; (b) $25,000 in cash; (c) senior subordinated notes in an aggregate principal amount of
$37,476 (the “Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes”), with a fair value of $34,450; and (d) senior demand notes
in an aggregate principal amount equal to the cash on hand at certain of the non-U.S. subsidiaries included
in the Acquired Ciba Business (the “Senior Demand Notes”). The total aggregate purchase price for the net
assets acquired was approximately $209,000.

Hexcel acquired the assets of the composite products division of Hercules on June 27, 1996. The Acquired
Hercules Business, which manufactures carbon fibers and prepregs for commercial aerospace, space and
defense, general industrial and recreation markets, was purchased for $139,400 in cash.

The assets acquired and the liabilities assumed or incurred were:

Acquired Acquired
Ciba Hercules

Business Business Total

Estimated fair values of assets acquired:

Accounts receivable $ 53,861 $ 16,819 $ 70,680

Inventories 65,596 22,289 87,885

Property, plant and equipment 119,446 110,611 230,057

Goodwill and other purchased intangibles 39,851 – 39,851

Prepaid pension asset 8,688 – 8,688

Other assets 3,069 642 3,711

Total assets acquired 290,511 150,361 440,872

Estimated fair values of liabilities assumed or incurred:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 62,582 7,688 70,270

Notes payable and capital lease obligations 4,743 2,774 7,517

Deferred liabilities 14,233 499 14,732

Total liabilities assumed or incurred 81,558 10,961 92,519

Estimated fair values of net assets acquired $208,953 $139,400 $348,353

Purchase price:

Cash $ 25,000 $139,400 $164,400

Senior Subordinated Notes issued to Ciba,
at aggregate fair value 34,450 – 34,450

Senior Demand Notes issued to Ciba 5,329 – 5,329

Hexcel common stock issued to Ciba,
valued at $8 per stock 144,174 – 144,174

Aggregate purchase price $208,953 $139,400 $348,353

Acquired Fiberite Assets
On September 30, 1997, the company acquired from Fiberite its satellite business consisting of intangible
assets and inventory, and certain non-exclusive worldwide rights to other prepreg technologies, for $37,000
in cash. The acquisition was substantially downsized from the original agreement whereby the company
had, subject to certain terms and conditions, committed to purchase selected assets and businesses of
Fiberite for approximately $300,000. As a result of the downsized transaction, the company wrote-off
$4,973 of acquisition and financing costs to business acquisition and consolidation expenses in 1997. 
In addition, the company expensed $8,000 of acquired in-process research and technology purchased from
Fiberite which is also included in the 1997 business acquisition and consolidation expenses.
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N o t e  5  -  P r o p e r t y, P l a n t  a n d  E q u i p m e n t

1998 1997

Land $ 22,178 $ 17,773 

Buildings 167,176 136,108

Equipment 439,179 335,035

Property, plant and equipment 628,533 488,916

Less accumulated depreciation (195,960) (157,439)

Net property, plant and equipment $ 432,573 $ 331,477

N o t e  6  -  I n v e s t m e n t  i n  A f f i l i a t e d  C o m p a n i e s  a n d  O t h e r  A s s e t s

1998 1997

Investment in affiliated companies $ 70,291 $ –

Deferred tax asset 10,503 9,901 

Deferred debt financing costs, net of accumulated amortization
of $1,773 and $2,487 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively 11,452 4,030

Prepaid pension asset 9,503 8,619

Other assets 5,408 3,325

Investment in affiliated companies and other assets $ 107,157 $ 25,875

Investment in Affiliated Companies
As part of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, the company acquired equity ownership interests in three
joint ventures: a 43.3% share in Asahi-Schwebel, headquartered in Japan, which in turn has its own joint
venture with AlliedSignal Inc. in Taiwan; a 43.6% share in CS-Interglas, together with fixed-price options
to increase this equity interest to approximately 84%; and a 50.0% share in CS Tech-Fab, headquartered in
the U.S. (see Note 2).

As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, Hexcel owned a 45% equity interest in DIC-Hexcel Limited (“DHL”),
a joint venture with Dainippon Ink and Chemicals, Inc. (“DIC”). This joint venture, which owns and 
operates a manufacturing facility in Komatsu, Japan, was formed in 1990 and produces and sells prepregs,
honeycomb, decorative laminates and bulk molding compounds using technology licensed from Hexcel and
DIC. In December of 1996, Hexcel and DIC reached an agreement to continue the DHL joint venture and
expand its operations. The company and DIC agreed to fund the joint venture’s operations through 1998
by each contributing an additional $3,250 in cash, payable in installments through 1998. Of this amount,
$1,250 and $2,000 was paid in 1998 and 1997, respectively. In addition, the company and DIC agreed to
contribute certain additional technology and product manufacturing rights to DHL. Under the terms of the
agreements, Hexcel remains contingently liable to pay DIC up to $4,500 with respect to DHL’s bank debt,
but the possibility that such repayment will be required has diminished as a result of the improvement in
DHL’s business prospects. As of December 31, 1998, the company’s investment in DIC is zero.

In addition to the above joint ventures, in 1998, the company reached an agreement in principle with 
the Boeing Company (“Boeing”) and Aviation Industries of China to form a joint venture, BHA Aero
Composite Parts Co., Ltd., to manufacture composite parts for secondary structures and interior applications
for commercial aircraft. This joint venture will be located in Tianjin, China. Also in 1998, the company
signed an agreement with Boeing, Sime Darby Berhad and Malaysia Helicopter Services (now known as
Naluri Berhad) to form another joint venture, Asian Composite Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd., to manufacture
composite parts for secondary structures for commercial aircraft. This joint venture will be located in Alor

Total accrued business acquisition and consolidation expenses at December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996  and
activity during the three years then ended were as follows:

Employee Fiberite &
Severance Facility & Other

and Equipment Transaction
Relocation Relocation Other Costs Total

Balance as of January 1, 1996 – – – – –

Business acquisition and
consolidation expenses $17,285 $10,488 $14,597 $ – $ 42,370

Liabilities assumed or incurred in
business acquisitions 7,104 2,497 – – 9,601

Cash expenditures (5,306) (1,109) (5,164) – (11,579)

Non-cash usage – (6,678) (8,357) – (15,035)

Balance as of December 31, 1996 19,083 5,198 1,076 – 25,357

Business acquisition and
consolidation expenses (25) 7,651 4,744 12,973  25,343

Cash expenditures (6,644) (8,771) (5,207) (12,973) (33,595)

Non-cash usage (2,759) (2,068) (105) – (4,932)

Balance as of December 31, 1997 9,655 2,010 508 – 12,173

Business acquisition and
consolidation expenses (3,225) 9,625 5,600 711 12,711

Cash expenditures (1,079) (6,353) (508) (711) (8,651)

Non-cash usage 517 (2,948) (5,600) – (8,031)

Balance as of December 31, 1998 $ 5,868 $ 2,334 $ – $ – $ 8,202

Non-cash items consist of asset write-downs and currency translation effects. Accrued business consolida-
tion costs of $8,202 and $12,173 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, were included in 
“other accrued liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Business consolidation activities
were financed with operating cash flows and borrowings under the Senior and Revolving Credit Facilities.
In addition, in 1997, the company received $8,500 of net proceeds, which approximated book value, from
the sale of its Anaheim, California facility.

N o t e  4  -  I n v e n t o r i e s

1998 1997

Raw materials $ 90,881 $ 90,429

Work in progress 77,769 47,953

Finished goods 44,549 26,939

Inventories $ 213,199 $ 165,321
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The Senior Credit Facility is secured by a pledge of shares of certain of Hexcel’s subsidiaries. In addition, the
company is subject to various financial covenants and restrictions under the Senior Credit Facility, and is
generally prohibited from paying dividends or redeeming capital stock. Approximately $544,000 of the
Senior Credit Facility, after the issuance of the Senior Subordinated Notes, expires by September 2004, with
the balance expiring in 2005.

As a result of obtaining the Senior Credit Facility and the Amended Revolving Credit Facility (see below),
the company wrote off approximately $1,600 of capitalized debt financing costs in 1998. This amount is
included in “interest expense” in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for 1998.

Revolving Credit Facility
In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Hercules Business in 1996, Hexcel obtained a revolving
credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”). The Revolving Credit Facility was obtained to: (a) refinance
outstanding indebtedness under a senior secured credit facility; (b) finance the purchase of the Acquired
Hercules Business; and (c) provide for the ongoing working capital and other financing requirements of the
company, including business consolidation activities, on a worldwide basis. The Revolving Credit Facility
was amended in March 1998 (the “Amended Revolving Credit Facility”) and in September 1998, the Senior
Credit Facility replaced the Amended Revolving Credit Facility. The Amended Revolving Credit Facility,
prior to its replacement, had provided up to $355,000 of borrowing capacity and would have expired in
March 2003.

Interest on outstanding borrowings on the Amended Revolving Credit Facility depended upon certain pre-
determined ratios and other conditions and was computed at an annual rate ranging from approximately
0.3% to 1.1% in excess of the applicable London interbank rate or, at the option of Hexcel, at the base rate
of the administrative agent for the lenders. In addition, the Amended Revolving Credit Facility was subject
to a commitment fee ranging from approximately 0.2% to 0.4% per annum of the total facility. Interest 
on outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility was computed at an annual rate of 0.4% 
in excess of the applicable London interbank rate or, at the option of Hexcel, at the base rate of the 
administrative agent for the lenders. The Revolving Credit Facility was also subject to a commitment fee of
approximately 0.2% per annum on the unused portion of the facility.

European Credit and Overdraft Facilities
In addition to the Senior Credit Facility, certain of Hexcel’s European subsidiaries have access to limited
credit and overdraft facilities provided by various local lenders. These credit and overdraft facilities, which
are only available to finance certain activities by specific subsidiaries, are primarily uncommitted 
facilities that are terminable at the discretion of the lenders. The credit and overdraft facilities in use by the
company’s European subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, other than the Senior or Revolving
Credit Facilities, bear interest at rates between 3.0% and 6.4% per annum.

Convertible Subordinated Notes, due 2003
In July of 1996, Hexcel completed an offering of $114,500 in convertible subordinated notes, due 2003
(the “Convertible Subordinated Notes”). The Convertible Subordinated Notes carry an annual interest rate
of 7% and are convertible into Hexcel common stock at a conversion price of $15.81 per share, subject to
adjustment under certain conditions. Net proceeds of $111,351 from this offering were used to repay
amounts owed under the company’s Revolving Credit Facility.

The Convertible Subordinated Notes are redeemable beginning in August of 1999, in whole or in part, at
the option of Hexcel. The redemption prices range from 103.5% to 100.0% of the outstanding principal
amount, depending on the period in which redemption occurs. As of December 31, 1998, $65 of the
Convertible Subordinated Notes had been converted resulting in the issuance of 4 shares of common stock.

Setar, Malaysia. Products manufactured by both joint ventures will be shipped to the company’s 
Kent, Washington facility for final assembly, inspection and shipment to Boeing as well as other customers
worldwide. It is anticipated that the first parts will be delivered to customers in 2001. The company’s total
estimated financial commitment to both of these joint ventures will be approximately $31,000, which 
is expected to be made in increments through 2001. However, completion of these projects and related
investments remain subject to certain significant conditions, including foreign government approvals.

N o t e  7  -  N o t e s  P a y a b l e

1998 1997

Senior Credit Facility $ 618,214 $ –

Revolving Credit Facility – 158,267

European Credit and Overdraft Facilities 16,330 13,909

Convertible Subordinated Notes, due 2003 114,435 114,450

Convertible Subordinated Debentures, due 2011 25,625 25,625

Various notes payable 547 680

Total notes payable 755,151 312,931

Capital lease obligations (see Note 8) 54,092 5,473

Senior Subordinated Notes Payable to a related party, net of
unamortized discount of $1,801 and $2,233 as of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively 35,675 34,967

Total notes payable, capital lease obligations and
indebtedness to related parties $ 864,918 $ 353,371

Notes payable and current maturities of capital lease obligations $ 26,867 $ 13,858

Long-term notes payable and capital lease obligations,
less current maturities 802,376 304,546

Indebtedness to related parties 35,675 34,967

Total notes payable, capital lease obligations and
indebtedness to related parties $ 864,918 $ 353,371

Senior Credit Facility
In connection with the acquisition of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business (see Note 2) on September 15,
1998, Hexcel obtained the Senior Credit Facility to: (a) fund the purchase of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel
Business; (b) refinance the company’s existing revolving credit facility; and (c) provide for ongoing working
capital and other financing requirements of the company. The Senior Credit Facility, prior to the issuance 
in January 1999 of $240,000 of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009 (see below), provided up 
to $910,000 of borrowing capacity, with available borrowings of $281,000 at December 31, 1998, subject
to certain loan covenants. After the issuance of the 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009, the bor-
rowing capacity under the Senior Credit Facility was reduced to $672,000, subject to certain loan covenants. 

Depending on certain predetermined ratios and other conditions, interest on outstanding borrowings under
the Senior Credit Facility is computed at an annual rate ranging from approximately 0.75% to 2.25% in
excess of the applicable London interbank rate, or at the option of Hexcel, at 0 to 1.25% in excess of the
base rate of the administrative agent for the lenders. In addition, the Senior Credit Facility is subject to 
a commitment fee ranging from 0.23% to 0.50% per annum of the total facility. As of December 31, 1998,
the company had an interest rate cap agreement outstanding which covers a notional amount of $50,000
of the variable rate Senior Credit Facility providing a maximum fixed rate of 5.5%. The cost of the interest
rate cap is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the contract and the unamortized amount
approximated fair value at December 31, 1998.
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Aggregate Maturities of Notes Payable and Indebtedness to Related Parties
As discussed above, on January 21, 1999, the company issued $240,000 of 9.75% Senior Subordinated
Notes, due 2009, for net proceeds of $231,000, and amended its Senior Credit Facility. In addition, on
February 17, 1999, the company repaid $12,500 of the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes payable to CSC
with borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility. The table below reflects aggregate maturities of notes
payable and indebtedness to related parties, including the amended due dates and maturities from the above
events (see Note 8 for maturities of capital lease obligations):

Payable during years ending December 31:

1999 $ 21,983

2000 17,490

2001 20,154

2002 35,726

2003 176,000

2004 and thereafter 548,473

Total notes payable and indebtedness to related parties $ 819,826

Estimated Fair Values of Notes Payable
The Senior Credit Facility, and substantially all of the various European credit facilities and other notes
payable outstanding as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, are variable-rate debt obligations. Accordingly,
the estimated fair values of each of these debt obligations approximates their respective book values. 

The aggregate fair values of the Convertible Subordinated Notes, due 2003, and the Convertible
Subordinated Debentures, due 2011, are estimated on the basis of quoted market prices, although trading
in these debt securities is limited and may not reflect fair value. The aggregate fair value of the Convertible
Subordinated Notes, due 2003, was approximately $96,100 and $196,000 as of December 31, 1998 and
1997, respectively. The aggregate fair value of the Convertible Subordinated Debentures, due 2011, was
approximately $19,000 and $25,500 as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

N o t e  8  -  L e a s i n g  A r r a n g e m e n t s

Assets, accumulated depreciation and related liability balances under capital leasing arrangements as of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, were:

1998 1997

Property, plant and equipment $67,191 $10,197

Less accumulated depreciation (6,593) (3,593)

Net property, plant and equipment $60,598 $ 6,604

Capital lease obligations $54,092 $ 5,473

Less current maturities (4,884) (347)

Long-term capital lease obligations, net $49,208 $ 5,126

As discussed in Note 2, Hexcel entered into a $50,000 capital lease for property, plant and equipment used
in the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. The lease expires in September 2006 and includes various pur-
chase options. 

Certain sales and administrative offices, data processing equipment, and manufacturing facilities are leased
under operating leases. Rental expense under operating leases was $4,656 in 1998, $4,559 in 1997 and
$4,623 in 1996.

Convertible Subordinated Debentures, due 2011
The 7% convertible subordinated debentures, due 2011, are redeemable by Hexcel prior to maturity.
Mandatory redemption is scheduled to begin in 2002 through annual sinking fund requirements. 
The debentures are convertible prior to maturity into common shares of the company at $30.72 per share. 

Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes Payable
In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business, Hexcel issued to Ciba, the Ciba Senior
Subordinated Notes in an aggregate principal amount of $37,476. Hexcel also consented to an assignment
by Ciba of Ciba’s rights and obligations under the Strategic Alliance Agreement to Ciba Speciality Chemical
Holdings Inc. and Ciba Specialty Chemicals Corporation (collectively “CSC”). In connection with the
assignment of these rights and obligations, the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes that were previously
payable to Ciba are now payable to CSC.

The Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes are general unsecured obligations of Hexcel that bear interest for three
years at a rate of 7.5% per annum, payable semiannually from February 29, 1996. The interest rate will
increase to 10.5% per annum on the third anniversary of the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business
(February 28, 1999), and by an additional 0.5% per year thereafter until the Ciba Senior Subordinated
Notes mature in the year 2003.

At the date of issue, the aggregate fair value of the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes was $3,026 less 
than the aggregate principal amount. The original discount of $3,026 reflects the absence of certain call
protection provisions from the terms of the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes and the difference between 
the stated interest rate on the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes and the estimated market rate for debt 
obligations of comparable quality and maturity. This discount, which is amortized over the life of the Ciba
Senior Subordinated Notes, had an unamortized balance of $1,801 and $2,233 as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, respectively.

On February 17, 1999, the company repaid $12,500 of its Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes payable. 
The repayment was financed with borrowings under the company’s Senior Credit Facility. As a result of the
repayment, the company will write-off approximately $600 of the unamortized discount in 1999. 

As discussed in Note 9, Hexcel has various financial and other relationships with CSC. Accordingly, the
company’s net indebtedness to CSC under the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes has been classified as
“indebtedness to related parties” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009
On January 21, 1999, the company issued $240,000 of 9.75% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2009. 
Net proceeds of approximately $231,000 from this offering were used to repay amounts owed under the
Senior Credit Facility. Simultaneously with the closing of this offering, the company amended the Senior
Credit Facility to, among other things, reduce the available borrowing capacity to $672,000, modify 
certain financial covenants and to permit the offering.

56 57

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA



In addition, the company participates in a union sponsored multi-employer pension plan covering certain
U.S. employees with union affiliations. 

As part of the Acquired Ciba Business, the company acquired a net pension asset from a defined benefit
retirement plan covering employees of a United Kingdom subsidiary. Pursuant to the terms of the Strategic
Alliance Agreement, these employees continued to participate in a defined benefit retirement plan 
sponsored by Ciba up to January 1, 1997, at which time, the accumulated benefit obligation and net 
pension asset was valued and transferred to a newly created plan sponsored by the company. 

Under the retirement savings plans, eligible U.S. employees may contribute up to 16% of their compensa-
tion to an individual retirement savings account. Hexcel makes matching contributions equal to 50% of
employee contributions, not to exceed 3% of employee compensation. In addition, the company makes
profit sharing contributions when the company meets or exceeds certain annual performance targets. 
The net expense for these retirement savings plans was approximately $5,798 for 1998, $5,957 for 1997
and $5,396 for 1996.

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
Hexcel provides certain postretirement health care and life insurance benefits to eligible retirees.
Substantially all U.S. employees hired on or before December 31, 1995, are eligible for benefits, as well as
senior executives and certain U.S. employees hired in connection with the Acquired Ciba Business and the
Acquired Hercules Business. The company also maintains a postretirement medical plan for its employees
hired in connection with the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business. 

Benefits are available to eligible employees who retire on or after age 58 after rendering at least 15 years of
service to Hexcel, including years of service rendered to the Acquired Ciba Business or the Acquired
Hercules Business prior to the dates of acquisition. Benefits consist of coverage of up to 50% of the annual
cost of certain health insurance plans, as well as annual life insurance coverage equal to 65% of the final
base pay of the retiree until the age of 70. Upon reaching 70 years of age, life insurance coverage is reduced. 

As part of the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, the company assumed a defined benefit postretirement
medical plan, which covers substantially all salaried and nonsalaried employees. The plan provides medical
coverage to age 65 for employees who retire at age 62 or later, have at least 25 years of service and 
participated in the plan prior to retirement. 

The net periodic cost of Hexcel’s defined benefit retirement and U.S. postretirement plans for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, were:

U.S. Plans European Plans

RETIREMENT PLANS 1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

Service cost–benefits earned
during the year $ 3,314 $ 2,310 $ 2,365 $ 2,063 $ 1,933 $ 150

Interest cost on projected
benefit obligation 1,180 817 646 2,301 2,168 132

Expected return on plan assets (805) (739) (477) (4,365) (6,799) (109)

Net amortization and deferral 567 265 273 898 4,002 – 

Net periodic pension cost $ 4,256 $ 2,653 $ 2,807 $ 897 $ 1,304 $ 173

Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 1998, were:

Type of Lease

Payable during years ending December 31: Capital Operating

1999 $ 9,038 $ 4,377

2000 8,804 3,135

2001 8,513 1,691

2002 8,513 1,100

2003 8,022 474

2004 and thereafter 29,158 2,380

Total minimum lease payments $72,048 $13,157

Total minimum capital lease payments include $17,956 of imputed interest.

N o t e  9  -  R e l a t e d  P a r t i e s

In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business, Hexcel delivered 18,022 newly issued shares
of Hexcel common stock to Ciba, representing 49.9% of the Hexcel common stock issued and outstanding
at that date. In addition, the company and Ciba entered into the Strategic Alliance Agreement which 
currently provides for, among other things, the designation by Ciba of four of the company’s ten directors,
and the approval of a majority of these four designated directors for the taking of certain significant actions
by the company. On February 21, 1997, the company consented to an assignment by Ciba of Ciba’s rights
and obligations under the Strategic Alliance Agreement to CSC. In connection with the assignment of these
rights and obligations, all of the Hexcel common stock previously held by Ciba is now held by CSC.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 7, Hexcel delivered Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes in an aggregate principal
amount of $37,476 to Ciba in connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business. In connection
with the assignment of Ciba’s rights and obligations under the Strategic Alliance Agreement, the Senior
Subordinated Notes that were previously payable to Ciba are payable to CSC. During 1996, the company
also delivered Senior Demand Notes to Ciba in an aggregate principle amount of $5,329. The Senior
Demand Notes were presented for payment and paid in full prior to December 31, 1996. Aggregate 
interest expense on the Ciba Senior Subordinated Notes in 1998, 1997 and 1996, was $2,811, $2,762 
and $2,715, respectively.

Hexcel purchases certain raw materials from various CSC subsidiaries. The company’s aggregate purchases
from CSC subsidiaries for 1998, 1997 and 1996 were $37,717, $34,255 and $15,116, respectively.
Aggregate payables to various CSC subsidiaries included in “accounts payable” and “accrued liabilities” as
of December 31, 1998 and 1997, were $3,314 and $1,196, respectively. In addition, the company sold 
certain finished products to the affiliates of CSC (“Ciba Distributors”) pursuant to a distribution agreement,
which expired February 28, 1997. For the year ended December 31, 1998, there were no sales to Ciba
Distributors. For the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1996, aggregate sales to Ciba Distributors were
$5,620 and $32,408, respectively. As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, aggregate receivables from Ciba
Distributors were not material to the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

N o t e  10 – R e t i r e m e n t  a n d  O t h e r  P o s t r e t i r e m e n t  B e n e f i t  P l a n s

Retirement Plans
Hexcel maintains defined benefit retirement plans covering most U.S. and certain European employees as
well as retirement savings plans covering eligible U.S. employees. The defined benefit retirement plans are
based on years of service and employee compensation under either a career average or final pay benefits’
method. Hexcel’s funding policy is to contribute the minimum amount required by applicable regulations.
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The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for pension
plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $21,545, $18,858 and $11,545,
respectively, as of December 31, 1998 and $14,910, $13,037 and $8,343, respectively, as of December 31,
1997. In 1998, the company updated certain assumptions with respect to its European plans, resulting 
in an actuarial loss. Amortization of this loss and other prior service costs, is calculated on a straight-line
basis over the expected future years of service of the plans’ active participants. Assets for the defined 
benefit pension plans generally consist of publicly traded securities, bonds and cash investments. 

As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the prepaid benefit cost was included in “investment in affiliated 
companies and other assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. For the same periods, the
accrued benefit cost was included in “accrued compensation and benefits” and “other non-current liabilities”
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Assumptions used to estimate the actuarial present value of benefit obligations as of December 31, 1998,
1997 and 1996, were:

1998 1997 1996

U.S. defined benefit retirement plans:
Discount rates 7.0% 7.0% 7.5%

Rate of increase in compensation 4.5% 4.5% 4.5%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 9.0% 9.0% 9.0%

European defined benefit retirement plans:
Discount rates 5.5%–5.8% 6.5%–7.0% 6.5%–7.5%

Rates of increase in compensation 1.5%–4.0% 2.0%–5.0% 2.0%–4.5%

Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 6.5%–7.0% 6.5%–7.5% 6.5%–9.0%

Postretirement benefit plans:
Discount rates 6.8%–7.0% 7.0% 7.5%

For measurement purposes, the annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits
were assumed at 7.5% to 10.2% for medical, and 5.0% for dental and vision for 1999. These rates were
assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5% to 8.4%, and remain at 5.0%, respectively, by the year 2002.

The table below presents the impact of a one-percentage point increase and a one-percentage point decrease
in the assumed health care cost trend on the total of service and interest cost components and on the postre-
tirement benefit obligation.

1998 1997

One-percentage point increase:
Effect on total service and interest cost components $ 67 $ 47

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 778 608

One-percentage point decrease:
Effect on total service and interest cost components (55) (43)

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation (662) (527)

POSTRETIREMENT PLANS 1998 1997 1996

Service cost– benefits earned during the year $ 127 $ 91 $ 80

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 691 752 701

Net amortization and deferral (318) (213) (222)

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 500 $ 630 $ 559

The benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets, funded status and amounts recognized in the consolidated
financial statements, for Hexcel’s retirement plans and U.S. postretirement plans, as of and for the years
ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 were:

Retirement Plans

U.S. Plans European Plans Postretirement Plans

1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation–beginning 
of year $ 14,910 $ 11,071 $ 32,627 $ 27,479 $ 10,836 $ 10,294

Service cost 3,314 2,310 2,063 1,933 127 91

Interest cost 1,180 817 2,301 2,168 691 752

Introduction of a new plan 1,200 – – – – –

Plan participants’ contributions – – 511 459 41 53

Plan from the Acquired Clark-
Schwebel Business – – – – 4,139 –

Actuarial loss (gain) 1,781 1,253 9,080 750 (1,927) 235

Benefits paid (840) (541) (188) (162) (526) (589)

Other – – 705 – – –

Benefit obligation–end of year $ 21,545 $ 14,910 $ 47,099 $ 32,627 $ 13,381 $ 10,836

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets-
beginning of year 8,343 5,974 44,557 36,282 – –

Actual return on plan assets 1,517 739 4,941 6,798 – –

Employer contributions 2,525 2,171 1,172 1,180 416 536

Plan participants’ contributions – – 511 459 41 53

Benefits paid (840) (541) (188) (162) (457) (589)

Other – – 705 – – –

Fair value of plan assets–
end of year $ 11,545 $ 8,343 $ 51,698 $ 44,557 $ – $ –

Funded status: 

Benefit obligation in excess
of plan assets (10,000) (6,567) 4,598 11,930 (13,420) (10,836)

Unrecognized actuarial
loss (gain) 2,369 1,436 4,905 (3,311) (549) (556)

Unrecognized net liability 126 169 – – – –

Unrecognized prior service cost 816 4 – – (4,743) (3,210)

Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ (6,689) $ (4,958) $ 9,503 $ 8,619 $(18,712) $(14,602)
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Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the recognition of items for income tax
purposes and financial reporting purposes. Principal temporary differences as of December 31, 1998 and
1997, were:

1998 1997

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 19,200 $ 21,000

Reserves and other, net 24,150 31,580

Accrued business acquisition and consolidation expenses 3,000 4,380

Accelerated depreciation and amortization (14,130) (16,690)

Valuation allowance (7,300) (8,500)

Net deferred tax asset $ 24,920 $ 31,770

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards
As of December 31, 1998, Hexcel had net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for U.S. federal 
and Belgium income tax purposes of approximately $45,000 and $4,500, respectively. The U.S. NOL 
carryforwards, which are available to offset future taxable income, expire at various dates through the year
2012. As a result of the ownership change, which occurred in connection with the purchase of the Acquired
Ciba Business, the company has a limitation on the utilization of U.S. NOL carryforwards of approximately
$12,000 per year.

N o t e  12  -  S t o c k h o l d e r s ’ E q u i t y  

Common Stock Outstanding 

NUMBER OF SHARES (IN THOUSANDS) 1998 1997 1996

Common stock: 

Balance, beginning of year 36,891 36,592 18,091

Issuance of stock to Ciba – – 18,022

Activity under stock plans and other 284 296 479

Conversion of Subordinated Notes 1 3 –

Balance, end of year 37,176 36,891 36,592

Treasury stock:

Balance, beginning of year 35 31 –

Repurchased 812 4 31

Balance, end of year 847 35 31

Common stock outstanding 36,329 36,856 36,561

In 1998, the company’s Board of Directors approved plans to repurchase up to $20,000 of the company’s
common stock. During the year ended December 31, 1998, the company repurchased 812 shares of its
common stock at an average cost of $12.32 per share, for a total of $10,000. The Board of Directors may
also approve additional stock buybacks from time to time subject to market conditions and the terms of the
company’s credit agreements and indentures.

N o t e  11 -  I n c o m e  Ta x e s  

Provision for Income Taxes 
Income (loss) before income taxes and the provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December
31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, were:

1998 1997 1996

Income (loss) before income taxes:
U.S. $ 30,590 $ 24,197 $(11,956)

International 47,774 26,555 (3,798)

Total income (loss) before income taxes $ 78,364 $ 50,752 $(15,754)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes:
Current:

U.S. $ 6,352 $ 798 $ (1,600)

International 15,240 9,527 5,556

Current provision for income taxes 21,592 10,325 3,956

Deferred:
U.S. 4,662 (33,935) –

International 2,188 732 (520)

Deferred provision (benefit) for income taxes 6,850 (33,203) (520)

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 28,442 $(22,878) $ 3,436

A reconciliation of the provision (benefit) to the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35%, 35% and
34% for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, is as follows:

1998 1997 1996

Provision (benefit) at U.S. federal statutory rate $ 27,732 $ 17,763 $ (5,356)

U.S. state taxes, less federal tax benefit 807 519 21

Impact of different international tax rates,
adjustments to income tax accruals and other 1,103 18,773 (9,656)

Valuation allowance (1,200) (59,933) 18,427

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 28,442 $(22,878) $ 3,436

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”, in 1996 the company had fully provid-
ed valuation allowance reserves against its net deferred tax assets primarily in the U.S. and Belgium where
there were uncertainties concerning the company’s ability to generate sufficient future taxable income to
realize these assets. In 1997, the company reversed $59,900 of its valuation allowance reserve as follows:
$17,000 due to current year profitable U.S. operations, $39,000 due to the company’s assessment that the
realization of the remaining U.S. net deferred tax assets is more likely than not, and $3,900 in Belgium due
to a gain on sale of certain tangible and intangible assets to other Hexcel subsidiaries. The company con-
tinues to reserve the balance of the net deferred tax asset related to its Belgium operations.

The company has made no U.S. income tax provision for approximately $76,000 of undistributed earnings
of international subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998. Such earnings are considered to be permanently 
reinvested. The additional U.S. income tax on these earnings, if repatriated, would be offset in part by 
foreign tax credits.
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The number of options exercisable as of December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 were 1,505, 1,193 and 841,
respectively, at a weighted average exercise price of $11.54, $9.80 and $8.64, respectively. The following
table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 1998:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Average Number of Average

Range of Options Remaining Exercise Options Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (in Years) Price Exercisable Price

$ 4.18 – 4.75 173 5.9 $ 4.58 120 $ 4.75

$ 4.76 –10.00 907 8.8 $ 8.10 252 $ 6.41

$10.01–15.00 3,322 8.9 $12.17 900 $12.46

$15.01–20.00 550 7.9 $16.58 226 $16.62

$20.01–24.00 141 9.0 $23.98 – –

$24.01–30.00 20 9.3 $26.95 7 $26.95

$30.01–32.06 2 8.2 $30.49 – $30.68

$ 4.18 –32.06 5,115 8.7 $12.05 1,505 $11.54

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)
In July 1997, the company established an ESPP to provide eligible employees an additional opportunity to
share in the ownership of Hexcel. The maximum number of common stock reserved for issuance under the
ESPP is 200. Under the ESPP, eligible employees may contribute up to 10% of their base earnings toward
the quarterly purchase of the company’s common stock at a purchase price equal to 85% of the fair market
value of the common stock on the purchase date. During 1998, approximately 36 common stock were
issued under the ESPP.

Pro Forma Disclosures
The company has elected to continue to follow APB Opinion No. 25 for accounting for its stock-based
incentive plans. Had compensation expense for the company’s stock option plans been determined as 
prescribed by SFAS 123, pro forma net income (loss) and related per share amounts, would have been 
as follows:

1998 1997 1996

Net income (loss):
As reported $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $(19,190)

Pro forma 48,172 67,355 (19,233)

Basic net income (loss) per share:
As reported $ 1.38 $ 2.00 $ (0.58)

Pro forma 1.31 1.83 (0.58)

Diluted net income (loss) per share:
As reported $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58)

Pro forma 1.19 1.60 (0.58)

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 1998, 1997 and 1996 was $12.23, $18.24 and
$12.75, respectively. The following ranges of assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes pricing models for
options granted in 1998, 1997 and 1996: risk-free interest of 4.6% to 6.3%, estimated volatility of 40% to
51%, dividend yield of 0.0%, and an expected life of 1 to 10 years.

Stock-Based Incentive Plans
The company has various stock option and management incentive plans for eligible employees, officers,
directors and consultants. These plans provide for awards in the form of stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, and other stock-based awards. Options to purchase common
stock are generally granted at the fair market value on the date of grant. Substantially all of these options
have a ten-year term and generally vest over a 3-year period. In 1998 and 1997, Hexcel’s stockholders
approved various amendments to the company’s stock-based incentive plans, which increased the aggregate
number of stock issuable under these plans by 4,500 to 7,350. 

As of December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, the company had outstanding a total of 518, 353 and 286, 
of performance accelerated restricted stock units (“PARS”), respectively. PARS are convertible to an equal
number of shares of Hexcel common stock and generally vest in increments through 2005, subject
to certain terms of employment and other circumstances which may accelerate the vesting period. As of
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, 301, 286, and 0 PARS were vested, respectively. Approximately
$1,660, $3,272 and $529 of compensation expense was recognized in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively,
with respect to the PARS and certain other stock-based incentive plans.

In addition to the above, during 1996, the company recognized $3,635 of compensation expense under the
intrinsic value method resulting from stock options which vested in connection with the purchase of the
Acquired Ciba Business. This compensation expense was based on the difference between the exercise price
of the stock options granted and the market price of Hexcel common stock on the date that the company’s
stockholders approved the Incentive Stock Plan under which these options were granted. The recognition
of compensation expense in connection with these stock options resulted in a corresponding $3,635 increase
in the additional paid-in capital of the company.

Stock option data for the three years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, were:

Weighted
Number Average

of Exercise
Options Price

Options outstanding at January 1, 1996 1,014 $ 7.27

Options granted 1,577 $12.69

Options exercised (447) $ 9.40

Options expired or canceled (85) $11.45

Options outstanding at December 31, 1996 2,059 $10.36

Options granted 3,094 $18.24

Options exercised (289) $ 9.64

Options expired or canceled (25) $15.51

Options outstanding at December 31, 1997 4,839 $15.39

Options granted 3,253 $12.23

Options exercised (237) $ 8.53

Options expired or canceled ( 2,740) $18.52

Options outstanding at December 31, 1998 5,115 $12.05
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Pursuant to the New Jersey Environmental Responsibility and Clean-Up Act, Hexcel signed an adminis-
trative consent order to pay for the environmental remediation of a manufacturing facility it owns and for-
merly operated in Lodi, New Jersey. The company’s estimate of the remaining cost to satisfy this consent
order is accrued in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The ultimate cost of remediating the Lodi
site will depend on developing circumstances.

In connection with the purchase of the Acquired Ciba Business, Hexcel assumed various liabilities includ-
ing a liability with respect to certain environmental remediation activities at an acquired facility in Kent,
Washington. The company was a party to a cost sharing agreement regarding the operation of certain envi-
ronmental remediation systems necessary to satisfy a post-closure care permit issued to a previous owner of
the Kent site by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Under the terms of the cost sharing agreement,
the company was obligated to reimburse the previous owner for a portion of the cost of the required reme-
diation activities. The company has determined that the cost sharing agreement terminated on December
22, 1998, however, the other party disputes this determination. The company’s estimate of other costs asso-
ciated with the cleanup of the Kent site are accrued in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Product Claims
In 1993, Hexcel became aware of an aluminum honeycomb sandwich panel delamination problem with
panels produced by its wholly-owned Belgium subsidiary, Hexcel Composites S.A., and installed in rail cars
in France and Spain. Two customers alleged that Hexcel Composites S.A. was responsible for the problem.
In 1998, the company negotiated a settlement to be paid in 1999 with one customer and the company
expects to settle with the remaining customer in 1999. The company’s estimated liability for this matter is
accrued in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

N o t e  15 – S u p p l e m e n t a l  C a s h  F l o w  I n f o r m a t i o n

Supplemental cash flow information, including non-cash financing and investing activities, for the years
ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, consist of the following: 

1998 1997 1996

Cash paid for:
Interest $ 28,774 $ 22,300 $ 14,061

Taxes 26,359 3,929 8,911

Non-cash items:
Debt issued in connection with the Acquired Ciba Business – – 37,231

Common stock issued in connection with the Acquired
Ciba Business – – 144,174

Common stock issued under incentive plans 1,874 3,272 529

Conversion of Senior Subordinated Notes 15 50 –

Compensation expense in connection with the issuance 
of common stock (see Note 12) – – 3,635

Capital lease obligation in connection with the 
Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business 50,000 – –

N o t e  13  -  N e t  I n c o m e  ( L o s s )  P e r  S h a r e  

Computations of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997
and 1996, are as follows:

1998 1997 1996

Basic net income (loss) per share:

Net income (loss) $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $(19,190)

Weighted average common shares outstanding 36,675 36,748 33,351

Basic net income (loss) per share $ 1.38 $ 2.00 $ (0.58) 

Diluted net income (loss) per share:

Net income (loss) $ 50,439 $ 73,630 $(19,190)

Effect of dilutive securities–
Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2003 5,087 5,087 –

Senior Subordinated Debentures, due 2011 1,139 1,139 –

Adjusted net income (loss) $ 56,665 $ 79,856 $(19,190)

Weighted average common shares outstanding 36,675 36,748 33,351

Effect of dilutive securities–
Stock options 924 1,176 –

Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2003 7,238 7,239 –

Senior Subordinated Debentures, due 2011 834 834 –

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 45,671 45,997 33,351

Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 1.24 $ 1.74 $ (0.58) 

The Convertible Subordinated Notes, due 2003, which were issued in 1996, and the Convertible
Subordinated Debentures, due 2011, were excluded from the 1996 computation of diluted net loss per share
as they were antidilutive. Substantially all of the company’s stock options were included in the calculation
of the diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997.

N o t e  14  -  C o n t i n g e n c i e s

Hexcel is involved in litigation, investigations and claims arising out of the conduct of its business, includ-
ing those relating to commercial transactions, and environmental, health and safety matters. The company
estimates and accrues its liabilities resulting from such matters based on a variety of factors, including out-
standing legal claims and proposed settlements, assessments by internal and external counsel of pending or
threatened litigation, and assessments by environmental engineers and consultants of potential environ-
mental liabilities and remediation costs. Such estimates exclude counterclaims against other third parties.
Such estimates are not discounted to reflect the time value of money due to the uncertainty in estimating
the timing of the expenditures, which may extend over several years. Although it is impossible to determine
the level of future expenditures for legal, environmental and related matters with any degree of certainty, it
is the company’s opinion, based on available information, that it is unlikely that these matters, individual-
ly or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows of the company.

Legal and Environmental Claims and Proceedings
Hexcel has been named as a potentially responsible party with respect to several hazardous waste disposal
sites that it does not own or possess which are included on the Superfund National Priority List of the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency or on equivalent lists of various state governments. The company believes
that it has limited or no liability for cleanup costs at these sites and intends to vigorously defend itself in
these matters.
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Hexcel evaluates performance based on adjusted income before business acquisition and consolidation
(“BA&C”) expenses, interest and taxes (“Adjusted EBIT”), and generally accounts for intersegment 
sales based on arm’s length prices. Corporate and other expenses are not allocated to the operating 
segments. The following table presents financial information on the company’s operating segments as of
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, and for the years then ended:

Reinforcement Composite Engineered
Products Materials Products Total

1998

Net sales to external customers $224,815 $653,484 $210,745 $1,089,044
Intersegment sales 130,288 11,807 50 142,145
Total sales 355,103 665,291 210,795 1,231,189

Adjusted EBIT 57,433 87,126 16,009 160,568
Depreciation and amortization 23,558 17,106 3,669 44,333
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies 517 – – 517
BA&C expenses 1,645 3,171 5,500 10,316

Segment assets 788,445 423,183 133,715 1,345,343
Investment in non-consolidated affiliates 70,291 – – 70,291
Capital expenditures 21,137 33,168 9,324 63,629
BA&C payments 598 7,141 – 7,739
1997

Net sales to external customers 171,072 577,118 188,665 936,855

Intersegment sales 124,736 16,710 – 141,446

Total sales 295,808 593,828 188,665 1,078,301

Adjusted EBIT 40,399 84,151 14,702 139,252

Depreciation and amortization 13,791 16,594 2,958 33,343

BA&C expenses 1,707 9,579 – 11,286

Segment assets 221,335 413,043 128,678 763,056

Capital expenditures 23,360 22,617 8,399 54,376

BA&C payments 2,849 16,796 – 19,645

1996

Net sales to external customers 155,231 438,220 101,800 695,251

Intersegment sales 57,168 7,609 23 64,800

Total sales 212,399 445,829 101,823 760,051

Adjusted EBIT 25,806 44,604 2,889 73,299

Depreciation and amortization 8,877 13,022 2,455 24,354

BA&C expenses 1,699 27,998 – 29,697

Segment assets 227,415 350,218 118,383 696,016

Capital expenditures 21,569 15,056 3,883 40,508

BA&C payments $ 1,555 $ 6,456 $ – $ 8,011

N o t e  16  -  S e g m e n t  I n f o r m a t i o n

The financial results for Hexcel’s operating segments have been prepared using a management approach,
which is consistent with the basis and manner in which Hexcel management internally segregates financial
information for the purposes of assisting in making internal operating decisions. Hexcel’s operating seg-
ments and related products, are as follows:

REINFORCEMENT PRODUCTS: This segment manufactures and sells carbon fibers and carbon, glass and aramid
fiber fabrics. These reinforcement products comprise the foundation of most composite materials, parts and
structures. The segment weaves electronic fiberglass fabrics that are a substrate for PCBs. All of the 
company’s electronic sales come from reinforcement fabric sales. This segment also sells products for 
general industrial and recreation applications such as decorative blinds and soft body armor. In addition, 
this segment sells to the company’s Composite Materials segment and other third party customers in the
commercial aerospace and space and defense markets. Sales from the Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business are
included in this segment.

COMPOSITE MATERIALS: This segment manufactures and sells composite materials, including prepregs, honey-
comb, structural adhesives, sandwich panels and specially machined honeycomb parts, primarily to the 
commercial aerospace and space and defense markets, as well as to the general industrial and recreational
markets. This segment also sells to the company’s Engineered Products segment.

ENGINEERED PRODUCTS: This segment manufactures and sells a range of lightweight, high strength composite
structures and interiors, primarily to the commercial aerospace and space and defense markets.
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Geographic Data
Sales and long-lived assets, by geographic area, consisted of the following for the three years ended
December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996:

1998 1997 1996

NET SALES TO EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS:

United States $ 687,566 $598,555 $394,524

International
France 178,878 165,738 151,638

United Kingdom 65,999 49,395 48,172

Other 156,601 123,167 100,917

Total international 401,478 338,300   300,727

Total consolidated net sales 1,089,044 936,855 695,251

LONG-LIVED ASSETS:

United States 831,382 304,191 266,191

International
France 42,155 37,313 42,661

United Kingdom 46,428 43,123 41,444

Other 31,689 30,008 34,509

Total international 120,272 110,444 118,614

Total consolidated long-lived assets $ 951,654 $414,635 $384,805

Net sales are attributed to geographic areas based on the location in which the sale originated. U.S. net sales
include U.S. exports to non-affiliates of $99,976, $70,875 and $53,333, for the years ended December 31,
1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. Long-lived assets primarily consist of property, plant and equipment,
intangibles, investments in affiliated companies and other assets, less long-term deferred tax assets.

Significant Customers
To the extent that the end application of net sales can be identified, the Boeing Company and their 
subcontractors accounted for approximately 35%, 36% and 22% of 1998, 1997 and 1996 net sales, respec-
tively. Similarly, the Airbus Industrie consortium and their subcontractors accounted for approximately 
11%, 10%, and 10%, of 1998, 1997 and 1996 net sales, respectively.

Reconciliation of Reportable Segments to Consolidated Totals 
Reconciliations of the totals reported for the operating segments to the applicable line items in the consol-
idated financial statements are as follows: 

1998 1997 1996

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES:

Total Adjusted EBIT for reportable segments $ 160,568 $139,252 $ 73,299 

Less:
Total BA&C expenses for reportable segments 10,316 11,286 29,697 

Corporate BA&C expenses 2,395 14,057 12,673 

Total consolidated BA&C expenses 12,711 25,343 42,370 

Corporate & other expenses 30,818 33,338 25,125 

Interest expense 38,775 25,705 21,537 

Other income – – (2,994)

Eliminations (100) 4,114 3,015 

Consolidated income (loss) before income taxes 78,364 50,752 (15,754)

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION:

Total depreciation and amortization for reportable segments 44,333 33,343 24,354

Corporate depreciation and amortization 3,121 2,454 2,376

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization 47,454 35,797 26,730

ASSETS:

Total assets for reportable segments 1,345,343 763,056 696,016

Corporate assets 96,376 86,381 44,670

Eliminations (37,558) (37,851) (38,950)

Total consolidated assets 1,404,161 811,586 701,736

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES:

Total capital expenditures for reportable segments 63,629 54,376 40,508

Corporate expenditures 2,901 2,993 3,061

Total consolidated capital expenditures 66,530 57,369 43,569

BA&C PAYMENTS:

Total BA&C payments for reportable segments 7,739 19,645 8,011

Corporate BA&C payments 912 13,950 3,568

Total consolidated BA&C payments $ 8,651 $ 33,595 $ 11,579
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N o t e  17  -  Q u a r t e r l y  F i n a n c i a l  D a t a  ( U n a u d i t e d )

Quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, were:

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

1998

Net sales $256,741 $273,537 $255,303 $303,463
Gross margin 66,096 71,221 61,847 72,095
Business acquisition and

consolidation expenses – – (711) (12,000)
Operating income 33,736 38,156 27,563 17,584
Net income 17,070 19,978 11,498 1,893
Net income per share:

Basic $ 0.46 $ 0.54 $ 0.31 $ 0.05
Diluted 0.40 0.46 0.29 0.05

Dividends per share – – – –
Market price:

High $ 28.13 $ 31.38 $ 24.38 $ 14.19
Low 21.25 22.63 9.69 7.06

1997

Net sales $ 214,009 $ 241,629 $ 226,611 $ 254,606

Gross margin 46,889 57,818 54,967 62,958

Business acquisition and
consolidation expenses (2,899) (2,818) (15,433) (4,193)

Operating income 16,384 24,516 9,331 26,226

Net income 8,226 15,135 37,948 12,321

Net income per share:
Basic $ 0.22 $ 0.41 $ 1.03 $ 0.33

Diluted 0.22 0.38 0.87 0.30

Dividends per share – – – –

Market price:
High $ 21.38 $ 20.00 $ 30.25 $ 31.75 

Low 16.00 16.38 18.75 22.25

Results for the quarters ended September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1998, include the results of the
Acquired Clark-Schwebel Business, which was acquired on September 15, 1998. The Acquired Clark-
Schwebel Business had net sales and operating income of $7,000 and $400, and $51,400 and $7,200, for
the quarters ended September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1998, respectively. For the nine months ended
September 30, 1997, except for the $39,000 reversal of the U.S. tax valuation allowance reserve on
September 30, 1997, there was no net federal tax provision recorded on the company’s U.S. income. 
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